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CREIT is a publicly traded real estate investment trust listed 

on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX), under the symbol REF.UN.

CREIT’s disciplined approach has consistently provided reliable 

monthly distributions and steady growth in earnings, which have

resulted in attractive long-term returns for Unitholders.

1801 Hollis Street
Halifax, Nova Scotia

CREIT has direct responsibility 
for property management

The Shops at Oak Brook Place
Oak Brook, Illinois

Airport Business Park North
Mississauga, Ontario



2004 HIGHLIGHTS

Fully diluted Distributable Income rose 10% to $1.49 per Unit.

In June, annualized cash distributions per Unit were increased from $1.23 to $1.26.

$201 million of quality assets added to our portfolio, increasing our asset base 

by 14% to $1.5 billion.

Acquired 50% of Sun Life Plaza, a prominent Class A office complex in Calgary, 

further strengthening our presence in Alberta.

Added just over 1.0 million square feet to our industrial portfolio.

Acquired a portfolio of mainly retail assets in Atlantic Canada for $44 million.

Raised gross proceeds of $59.5 million in April 2004 through the issuance 

of 3.5 million CREIT Units at $17.00 per Unit.

CREIT’s Units closed the year on the Toronto Stock Exchange at $17.75 compared 

to $15.97 a year earlier. Including reinvested distributions, investors earned a total

return of 20.3% for the year.

Tenant service is a core element
of CREIT’s business model

175 Bloor Street East
Toronto, Ontario

Baymac Shopping Centre
Richmond Hill, Ontario

1508 & 1580 West Broadway
Vancouver, British Columbia
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The year 2004 was another outstanding one

for CREIT. We achieved important financial

and operating targets and we continued to

build the base for our future success.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For Canadian REITs, Distributable Income 

is the main reference number for reported

earnings. CREIT’s Distributable Income, 

on a fully diluted basis, rose to $1.49 per Unit

for the year ended December 31, 2004, an

impressive increase of 10% over the $1.36 

per Unit earned in the previous year.

In aggregate dollars, Distributable Income 

(fully diluted) was $82.3 million in 2004 and

$70.0 million in 2003.

Our results reflected an active and productive

year with contributions from acquisition

activities, development programs, effective

debt financings and most importantly, our

property management and leasing activities.

TRANSACTION HIGHLIGHTS

In 2004, we added $201 million of quality assets

to our real estate portfolio, thereby increasing

the size of our asset base by 14% to $1.5 billion

(book value after accumulated depreciation).

To fund our continuing growth, we raised 

gross proceeds of $59.5 million in April 2004,

through the issuance of 3.5 million CREIT Units

to a syndicate of underwriters on a bought-deal

basis. The price was $17.00 per Unit.

In June, we acquired a 50% managing interest

in Sun Life Plaza, a prominent Class A office

complex located in Calgary, Alberta, for

$103.3 million. Sun Life Financial retained 

a 50% ownership interest.

As a diversified REIT, our objective is to own 

at least one large office property in each of 

the major markets in which we operate. 

We have accumulated a significant portfolio 

of retail and industrial properties in Calgary

and Edmonton. Sun Life Plaza is our first office

property in Alberta, so this acquisition was

meaningful from a strategic perspective.

On the retail side, we acquired a portfolio of

seven assets in Atlantic Canada in July, which

were mainly retail properties, for $44.0 million.

Also important in 2004 was the addition of 

1 million square feet to our industrial portfolio.

PROPERTY OPERATIONS

We completed 1.8 million square feet in lease

transactions in 2004; our existing portfolio

performed very well during the year. 

The properties of our success

2004 Letter to Unitholders
from the President and Chief Executive Officer

Stephen E. Johnson
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One of the primary measures used to analyze

productivity in the real estate industry is 

same-asset performance.

Net operating income from CREIT’s industrial

portfolio increased 3.7% on a same-asset basis.

We had a slight improvement in occupancy,

but the increase resulted, for the most part,

from real growth in rental rates.

On a same-asset basis, net operating income

from our retail portfolio was down 0.3% 

(or essentially flat) year-over-year. Our

occupancy was virtually the same; this slight

decline was due to the foreign exchange

translation related to our one U.S. asset.

Net operating income from our office portfolio

improved marginally year-over-year. We 

had an impressive increase in our portfolio

occupancy, however market rental rates

continued to be soft during the year.

Overall, same-asset performance met our

expectations for 2004.

In 2004, we also continued to aggressively

invest in our corporate infrastructure and

personnel training, enhancing our ability 

to manage and lease our real estate.

RETURNS TO UNITHOLDERS

CREIT’s Units closed the year on the Toronto

Stock Exchange at $17.75 compared to 

$15.97 a year earlier, providing a total 

return to Unitholders, including reinvested

distributions, of 20.3% for 2004.

While we were again delighted with the return

Unitholders earned during the year, we have

always focused more on our performance 

over the longer term. Over the past 11 years

(for the period from January 1, 1994 to

December 31, 2004) the compound annual

return to CREIT investors has been 15.3%, 

an outstanding performance, particularly

given our relatively conservative risk profile.

PREDICTING FUTURE RETURNS

Our goal is to consistently deliver year-over-

year growth of 2% to 3% in our earnings.

Since, over time, our Unit price tends to trade

on a multiple of earnings, growth of 2% 

or 3% in our earnings should result in a

commensurate increase in our Unit price. 

This assumes that there are no major economic

or interest rate changes that would otherwise

affect our earnings multiple.

Our results reflected an active and productive year with contributions from acquisition

activities, development programs, effective debt financings and most importantly, 

our property management and leasing activities.

D I S T R I B U T A B L E

I N C O M E  G R E W  B Y

10%
P E R  U N I T  

A S S E T  B A S E

G R E W  B Y

14%

O C C U P A N C Y  

R A T E

95%

2 0 0 4

A  S T R O N G  

Y E A R  F O R  

C R E I T
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2004 Letter to Unitholders

Stafford Centre in Nepean 
is a strong grocery-anchored
retail property.

Therefore, the total return to Unitholders in any

given year should be our current yield (which

is the current payout divided by the current

price) plus the anticipated Unit price increase

that reflects the 2% to 3% growth in earnings

(assuming higher earnings are achieved).

Of course, the capital markets are simply never

that predictable. Earnings could increase, and

the unit price, notwithstanding, may decrease.

Investors therefore have to look at the yield and

the unit price, at a point in time, in conjunction

with their view of the economy generally and

real estate markets specifically. However, over

a long-term investment horizon, looking at the

current yield plus the anticipated growth rate is

a reasonable way for Unitholders to formulate

their own expectations regarding the likely

total returns from their investment in CREIT.

SUMMARY

In our annual reports over the years, we have

made a specific effort to inform our investors.

Full and responsible disclosure allows

investors to better assess risk and, over the

long term, this increases investor confidence.

Both the REIT market and the real estate

environment generally have evolved

significantly over the past number of years.

The theme of this year’s report “Properties of

Success” focuses attention on three important

areas for our investors:

• The CREIT business model;

• The CREIT track record; and

• The outlook for the future, specifically 

as it relates to the current competitive

environment for new acquisitions.

Simply stated, our goal is to deliver a reliable

yield to our Unitholders through the ownership

and management of a portfolio of quality 

real estate assets.

In 2005, we will continue to deliver reliability

and we will maintain our disciplined approach.

We are confident that we will meet the

objectives we have set out for the year.

Stephen E. Johnson
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

February 10, 2005

(SIGNED)



Timothy McSorley 1

VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Tim has been with CREIT and its predecessor since

1990. He has 23 years of experience encompassing 

all facets of the commercial real estate industry.

René Arsenault 2

VICE PRESIDENT, QUEBEC

René joined CREIT in December 2000, having

previously worked for SITQ and TrizecHahn. 

René has over 17 years of real estate experience 

and oversees a growing portfolio of 1.4 million 

square feet in Quebec.

Finley McEwen 3

VICE PRESIDENT, ONTARIO & MANITOBA

Finley joined CREIT in November 2001 and has over 

18 years of real estate experience. He is responsible

for a portfolio of 5.8 million square feet in Ontario 

and Manitoba.

John Morehouse 4

VICE PRESIDENT, ATLANTIC CANADA

John has been with CREIT since September 1996 

and has over 25 years of real estate experience. 

John manages a portfolio of 2.2 million square feet in

Nova Scotia, New Brunswick and Prince Edward Island.

Robert O’Brien 5

REGIONAL MANAGER, PACIFIC REGION

Rob started with MD Realty in April 1991 and 

joined CREIT when CREIT and MD Realty merged in

September 1996. Rob has 25 years of real estate

experience and is responsible for a portfolio of 

1.8 million square feet in British Columbia and

Saskatchewan.

Scott Sharples 6

VICE PRESIDENT, ALBERTA

Scott joined CREIT in April 2004 and has over 11 years

of real estate experience. He oversees a portfolio 

of 5.0 million square feet in Alberta.

A  S T R O N G  T E A M  I S  

K E Y  T O  E X C E P T I O N A L  

P E R F O R M A N C E

21

6543
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A solid business model

Baymac Shopping Centre
Richmond Hill, Ontario
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Acquisition of

Quality Assets

Property Management
and Leasing

Professional investors – pension funds, 

money managers, wealthy families – have 

for decades relied on real estate to be an

enduring component within a balanced 

and diversified investment portfolio. As 

an asset class, real estate has historically

delivered consistent cash flow in addition 

to the preservation of capital.

Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) were

introduced in Canada in 1993 as publicly

traded securities. CREIT was listed on the

Toronto Stock Exchange in September 1993.

After more than 11 years of developmental

growth, the REIT market in Canada has

evolved into a large, efficient public platform,

through which investors of all sizes and types

can access a “real estate component” to fit

their own investment portfolio.

REITs should provide most of the benefits that

can be achieved through the direct ownership

of real estate – current cash flow, some tax

deferral, preservation of capital, and growth 

in both cash flow and capital over time.

THE CREIT BUSINESS MODEL

CREIT has established a business model that

incorporates the following major objectives:

• To accumulate a portfolio of high-quality

real estate assets;

• To diversify the portfolio geographically,

and by asset class;

• To build a distinguishable core competency

in property management and leasing; and

• To develop and work within a disciplined

framework for financial management, which

embraces conservative accounting policies;

full, plain and true financial disclosure;

prudent debt levels and debt management;

and a provident payout ratio.

Within the context of this business model, the

Board of Trustees and the Management team

at CREIT have made the reliability of our

distributions the number one strategic priority.

Strategy
CREIT’s strategy is built on 
three principles: accumulating 
a diversified portfolio of high-
quality real estate assets; 
prudent financial management;
and superior property manage-
ment and leasing capabilities.
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We have set out to accumulate a portfolio of high-quality real estate assets; 

we aggressively manage and lease this portfolio, and we operate within a 

disciplined financial-management framework. Executed well, this should deliver 

a reliable yield to our Unitholders. 

50%
R E T A I L

P R O P E R T I E S

25%
I N D U S T R I A L

P R O P E R T I E S

25%
O F F I C E

P R O P E R T I E S

C R E I T ’ S  

T A R G E T E D  

M I X  O F  

P R O P E R T I E S

BY DESIGN, WE ARE A DIVERSIFIED REIT

We are diversified geographically and by

product type. Our targeted product mix is:

• 50% retail properties;

• 25% industrial properties; and

• 25% office properties.

Each real estate asset class – retail, industrial,

office – differs in its degree of risk, return and

volatility. Diversification is one tool we use 

to mitigate risk and maximize returns. Our

product mix is designed to provide an optimal

blend of risk, stability, growth and total

returns to our Unitholders. 

THE IMPORTANCE OF PROPERTY

MANAGEMENT AND LEASING

Fundamentally, there are two ways for REITs

to consistently grow earnings per unit –

externally by making accretive acquisitions,

and internally by improving the performance

of the existing portfolio. Improvements in 

the performance of the existing portfolio

emanate from escalating rents or higher

occupancy levels.

Increasingly, growth from CREIT’s existing

assets will be the key performance driver

because, as the portfolio grows, the additional

income from each new acquisition has

relatively less impact on the results of the

portfolio as a whole.

So, as we grow, the strength of our property

management and leasing capabilities becomes

more critical in determining CREIT’s

performance. As a result, building a distinctive

core competency in property management 

and leasing has been an important part of 

our business model for many years.

DELIVERING RELIABILITY AND GROWTH

Our business model is not complex. We have 

set out to accumulate a portfolio of high-quality

real estate assets; we aggressively manage and

lease this portfolio, and we operate within a

disciplined financial-management framework.

Executed well, this should deliver a reliable

yield to our Unitholders. We also expect our

business model to produce consistent growth

over time.

Cash Distributions 
per Unit ($)

1.25
1.17

01 02 03 04

CREIT has increased
distributions in each of the
past three years. Its annual
rate of $1.26 per Unit at year-
end was more than double 
the annual rate paid in 1993,
when CREIT was created as 
a Unit Trust.
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A strong track record

We have consistently emphasized the

importance of both the reliability of, and the

growth in, the distributions we pay to our

investors. These are the two critical goals 

we want to deliver over a long-term horizon.

To achieve these objectives, we have worked 

to accumulate a portfolio of high-quality real

estate assets appropriate for our business

model; we have focused on the operations side

of the business (property management and

leasing); and we have established and continue

to operate within a disciplined and prudent

framework for financial management.

After 11 years, we can look at our business

model in the context of the track record 

that CREIT has established.

In the measurements that support our

prospects for future growth, CREIT continues

to build on the foundation from which it can

deliver distribution and valuation increases.

Asset quality is a cornerstone 
of CREIT’s business model. 
Our acquisition in 2004 of 
Sun Life Plaza, in downtown
Calgary, fits appropriately 
into this strategy.

94

1.49

0.60

95 96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03 04

Distributable Income 
per Unit ($)

Distributable Income per Unit
has increased every year since
CREIT became a REIT in 1993.
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CREIT has operated as a public REIT over the past 11 years 

with a clear business model and well-defined goals.

O N E  Y E A R

20.3%

F I V E  Y E A R S

20.8%

E L E V E N  Y E A R S

15.3%

C R E I T ’ S  C O M P O U N D

A N N U A L  R E T U R N  

T O  U N I T H O L D E R S

Asset Growth 
(annual book value)
($ millions) 

94

1,469

511

84

95 96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03 04 04

125

254
258

100

CREIT         
S&P/TSX Composite Index         
S&P/TSX Capped REIT Index

99 00 01 02 03

Total Return 
($)

CREIT’s assets now total about 

$1.5 billion, making it the 4th largest

commercial property REIT in

Canada. In 2004, the Trust’s market

capitalization broke through the 

$1 billion mark.

How an Investment in CREIT 
Has Grown 
($)

47,842

10,000

99 00 01 02 03 0493 94 95 96 97 98

A $10,000 investment made in 

CREIT on December 31, 1993 would

have been worth $47,842 at the end 

of 2004, assuming all distributions

were reinvested when paid.

On a total return basis (including

reinvested distributions and

dividends) CREIT’s Units have

outperformed both the S&P/TSX

Composite Index and the S&P/TSX

Capped REIT Index over the past 

five years.
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A positive outlook

CREIT’s track record as outlined on the

previous pages illustrates the success we

have had in executing our strategy. 

We have now accumulated a sizeable

portfolio of quality assets ($1.5 billion 

at year-end 2004). 

We have strengthened the earning power of

the portfolio as a whole. We have consistently

grown our distributable income, and we have

significantly increased the per Unit amount

distributed to our investors over the years.

Notably, we have also lowered our payout

ratio while we were increasing the dollar

amount of the distributions.

But how will CREIT perform in the current

environment?

RELIABLE DISTRIBUTIONS

To start, and most importantly, we are 

very confident in the reliability of our

distributions. We have a strong real estate

portfolio and an appropriately prudent 

payout ratio.

INNOVATIVE WAYS TO ACQUIRE 

REAL ESTATE

In the context of growth, our goal remains to

consistently deliver year-over-year growth of

2% to 3% in our earnings; however, the environ-

ment in which we operate is always changing.

The buy-side interest for new acquisitions is

now at a competitive high. There are many

parties seeking to acquire quality real estate

properties; and high demand leads to higher

prices and lower yields for the purchaser. 

So, with lower yields on new acquisitions,

REITs generally will find it more challenging 

to grow Distributable Income through their

acquisition programs.

1508 & 1580 West Broadway,
Vancouver, British Columbia, a
high-quality office/retail complex

Reflecting a prudent
approach to financial
management, CREIT
reduced its payout ratio
guideline to 85%, thereby
improving the security of
its monthly distributions.

1.49

1.25

1.17

1.22

00

Distributable Income
Cash Distributions

01 02 03 04

A Conservative 
Payout Ratio 
($ per Unit)
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To start, and most importantly, we are very confident in the reliability 

of our distributions. We have a strong real estate portfolio and an appropriately

prudent payout ratio.

Over the past few years, CREIT has expanded

its traditional methods of acquiring properties.

For example, we transact with property

developers to provide financing for their new

developments in exchange for purchase rights

in favour of CREIT. This carries more risk 

than a typical acquisition, but by applying our

disciplined approach to these transactions, we

have successfully acquired quality properties

at attractive yields. Importantly, we have

created a new avenue through which we can

continue to grow our asset base, even in this

competitive environment for new acquisitions.

CREIT has recently entered into a joint venture

arrangement with Hopewell Development

Corporation. Named as one of Canada’s 50 Best

Managed Companies in 2004, Hopewell is a

well-respected “merchant developer” focused

on the development of new retail and

industrial properties in many of the markets

where CREIT is looking to grow; including

Ontario and Alberta for example.

Working with Hopewell to create real estate

assets, we expect to add several hundred

million dollars of high-quality properties to 

the CREIT portfolio over the next several years.

LONG-TERM FOCUS

The ownership of real estate is a long-term

business and, appropriately, our goal is 

to build a business and achieve performance

that endures.

In 2005, we will continue to strive for the

ambitious goals we have for CREIT. 

We will also continue to nurture a sustainable

corporate culture, based on the importance 

of delivering reliability and growth to 

our investors.

Portfolio Growth 
(000’s sq.ft.) 

94

13,712

882

95 96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03 04

CREIT has steadily expanded its
portfolio of high-quality properties.
We aim to create a critical mass 
in major markets, thereby 
leveraging leasing and management
capabilities and providing tenants
with greater flexibility.

100 Alexis Nihon Blvd.
Montreal, Quebec

Westridge Power Centre
Woodbridge, Ontario

Royal Bank Building, 220 Portage Avenue
Winnipeg, Manitoba
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A portfolio of exceptional properties
THE FOLLOWING TABLE OUTLINES THE PROPERTIES HELD BY CREIT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2004.

Ownership Total Area Ownership % 
RETAIL PROPERTIES Location Interest (Sq.Ft.) (Sq.Ft.) Leased Major Tenants 2 

135 Wyse Road Halifax, NS 100% 10,028 10,028 100% Credit Union Atlantic, Cash Money

Young-Kempt Centre Halifax, NS 100% 29,878 29,878 93% Smith & Scott Steakhouse, Curwin Health & Sport

552–560 Sackville Drive Halifax, NS 100% 15,160 15,160 100% Swiss Chalet, Mike’s Restaurant

209 Chain Lake Drive Halifax, NS 50% 81,234 40,617 100% Value Village, Mark’s Work Wearhouse

655 University Avenue Charlottetown, PEI 100% 26,043 26,043 100% Staples

9 Champlain Drive Dieppe, NB 100% 21,895 21,895 100% Swiss Chalet, Mike’s Restaurant

201 Chain Lake Drive Halifax, NS 50% 118,498 59,249 77% Hudson’s Bay Co., Dragon Buffet King Inc., 

Scrapbooking Store

Halifax Park Centre Halifax, NS 100% 56,107 56,107 100% Lee Valley Tools, Pro Cycle

Lacewood Square Halifax, NS 100% 45,428 45,428 97% Smitty’s, Swiss Chalet

182–192 Chain Lake Drive Halifax, NS 100% 181,701 181,701 100% Empire Theatres, Sears Canada Inc.

Baie D’Urfe Plaza 90 Morgan Road, Baie D’Urfe, PQ 100% 62,011 62,011 99% Provigo, SAQ

Blue Bonnets Shopping Centre Decarie Expressway & 50% 224,724 112,362 98% Wal-Mart, Mark’s Work Wearhouse

Rue Jean-Talon, Montreal, PQ

Hull Wal-Mart Centre Blvd Du Plateau, Hull, PQ 50.1% 245,928 123,209 100% Wal-Mart, Staples

Baymac Shopping Centre 1070 Major MacKenzie Drive, Richmond Hill, ON 50% 257,321 128,660 99% Wal-Mart, Dominion

Brookdale Centre 950–993 Brookdale Avenue, Cornwall, ON 100% 267,651 267,651 100% Wal-Mart, A&P Properties Inc.

Gardiners Town Centre 460–506 Gardiners Road, Kingston, ON 100% 106,009 106,009 96% A&P, Shoppers Drug Mart

Halton Village 315 Guelph Street, Georgetown, ON 100% 74,185 74,185 100% Canadian Tire, Mark’s Work Wearhouse

North Maple Mall 801 St. Clair Street, Chatham, ON 50% 229,063 114,532 100% Wal-Mart, Zehrs 

South Keys Shopping Centre Bank Street & Hunt Club Road, Ottawa, ON 50% 486,127 243,063 100% Wal-Mart, Loblaws

Springdale Square 55 Mountainash Drive, Brampton, ON 100% 105,432 105,432 97% Fortino’s, Blockbuster Video 

Stafford Centre 3655–3659 Richmond Road, Nepean (Ottawa), ON 100% 137,579 137,579 100% Loeb, Winners

Westridge Power Centre 3900 Highway 7 West, Woodbridge, ON 50% 415,905 207,952 98% Best Buy, Linens & Things 

Winston Power Centre 2460 Winston Churchill Boulevard, Oakville, ON 100% 112,680 112,680 100% Winners, Forzani Group Ltd.

Woodside Power Centre Highway 7 & Woodbine Avenue, Markham, ON 50% 325,597 162,799 100% Home Depot, Winners 

Swift Current Shopping Centre 1 Springs Drive, Swift Current, SK 100% 194,530 194,530 93% Zellers, Safeway

10010–132nd Avenue Edmonton, AB 100% 11,532 11,532 100% Swiss Chalet, Humpty’s Restaurant International

Clareview Towne Centre 4250–137 Avenue, Edmonton, AB 100% 50,829 50,829 100% Future Shop, Mark’s Work Wearhouse

Cornerstone Power Centre 1910–1960 Strachan Road, Medicine Hat, AB 100% 112,236 112,236 100% IGA, Staples

Crossroads Shopping Centre 4212 South Calgary Trail, Edmonton, AB 50% 26,765 13,383 100% Earl’s Restaurant, Alberta Treasury Branch 

Depot 170 9930–170th Street, Edmonton, AB 100% 79,628 79,628 100% PetSmart, Indigo Books & Music

Glenmore Square 7740–18th Street S.E., Calgary, AB 100% 76,058 76,058 96% Safeway, Shoppers Drug Mart

London Town Square 3431–3545 32nd Avenue N.E., Calgary, AB 100% 117,186 117,186 100% London Drugs, Sobeys

Shawnessy Village 70 Shawville Boulevard S.E., Calgary, AB 100% 101,923 101,923 99% Safeway, Blockbuster Video 

South Point Shopping Centre 3203–3289 South Calgary Trail, Edmonton, AB 50% 81,657 40,829 100% PetSmart, Indigo Books & Music

South Trail Shopping Centre Calgary Trail South and 134th Avenue, Edmonton, AB 100% 68,116 68,116 94% Future Shop, HomeSense 

St. Albert Square 445 St. Albert Road, St. Albert, AB 100% 58,316 58,316 100% Staples, Indigo Books & Music

Summer Breeze Shopping Centre 4108 South Calgary Trail, Edmonton, AB 50% 52,780 26,390 93% Staples, Sport Mart

Columbia Place Shopping Centre 1210 Summitt Drive, Kamloops, BC 50% 129,904 64,952 100% Save-On-Foods, Liquor Distribution Branch

Columbia Square Shopping Centre 500 Notre Dame, Kamloops, BC 50% 102,348 51,174 95% Toys ‘R’ Us, Office Depot

Discovery Harbour 3 1350 Island Highway, Campbell River, BC 50% 390,727 195,364 98% Loblaws, Zellers

Island Home Centre 805 Cloverdale Avenue, Victoria, BC 100% 165,949 165,949 99% Sears, Future Shop

Maple Ridge Square 22441 Dewdney Trunk Road, Maple Ridge, BC 100% 81,570 81,570 92% Extra Foods, Shoppers Drug Mart 

Pinetree Village 2991 Lougheed Highway, Coquitlam, BC 100% 196,432 196,432 99% Save-On-Foods, Best Buy

Spruceland Shopping Centre 687 Central Street, Prince George, BC 65% 141,346 91,875 99% Save-On-Foods, Petcetera

1508 & 1580 West Broadway 3 Vancouver, BC 100% 64,183 64,183 100% Chapters, Restoration Hardware

The Shops at Oak Brook Place 2155 West 22nd Street, Oak Brook (Chicago), IL 100% 176,920 176,920 100% TJ Maxx, Nordstrom Rack

Total Retail 1 6,117,119 4,483,605 98%
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INDUSTRIAL/ Ownership Total Area Ownership % 
WAREHOUSE PROPERTIES Location Interest (Sq.Ft.) (Sq.Ft.) Leased Major Tenants 2 

Burnside Industrial Park (17 properties) Halifax, NS 100% 934,625 934,625 88% Her Majesty the Queen, Sauder Industries Limited, 

Lawton’s Drug Stores Ltd. 

Greystone Court Halifax, NS 100% 96,781 96,781 89% Arrow Networks, Fleetway Inc.

555 Edinburgh Drive Moncton, NB 100% 25,756 25,756 68% Shell Canada Products, Qualex Canada Photofinishing

510–560 Orly Boulevard Dorval, PQ 100% 121,361 121,361 90% Airport Steel & Tubing, Rosedale Transport

4771–4825 Couture Boulevard St. Leonard, PQ 100% 89,825 89,825 95% Canplast, Pro Organics Marketing (Quebec) Inc.

45 West Wilmot Street Richmond Hill, ON 100% 187,125 187,125 99% Flexmaster, Canpaco

90 Nolan Court Markham, ON 100% 123,875 123,875 93% Cameo Kitchens, Artisan Screen Print

705–725 Belfast Road Ottawa, ON 100% 55,751 55,751 100% United Auto Parts, Ottawa Bridge Centre

925 Brock Road Pickering, ON 100% 261,767 261,767 100% Emerson Electric, Slim Line Vinyl Windows Inc.

927, 929, 931 Brock Road Pickering, ON 100% 57,882 57,882 0% –

951 Denison Street Markham, ON 100% 65,496 65,496 100% TEDA Enterprises, Black Box Canada

690 Gana Court Mississauga, ON 100% 59,480 59,480 100% Hunt Corporation

6290 Kestrel Road Mississauga, ON 100% 40,549 40,549 100% CDC Distribution Centres

1100 Squires Beach Road Pickering, ON 100% 191,778 191,778 100% RDP Fulfillment, TNT Canada Inc.

8100 Park Hill Drive Milton, ON 100% 101,463 101,463 100% Sauder Moldings Limited

Airport Business Park North (6 properties) Mississauga, ON 100% 575,288 575,288 100% Sport Chek, Dietrich

11724–180th Street Edmonton, AB 100% 94,681 94,681 100% Crossroads C&I Distributors Inc.

15706–116th Avenue Edmonton, AB 100% 57,696 57,696 100% Kal-Tire, Penske Canada

Bonaventure Business Park Edmonton, AB 100% 104,347 104,347 100% Anixter Canada Inc., Her Majesty the Queen

Eastgate Business Park (3 properties) Edmonton, AB 100% 266,675 266,675 100% Smurfit, WFF Fittings and Flanges

City West Distribution Centre (Bldgs A&B) Edmonton, AB 100% 327,433 327,433 100% Chep Canada Inc., Bridgebrand Food Services

Foothills Industrial Park (15 properties) Calgary, AB 100% 749,025 749,025 90% Global Wood Alberta Ltd., Gienow Windows and Doors Inc.

Great Plains Business Centre (4 buildings) 72nd Avenue, Calgary, AB 100% 476,485 476,485 98% Canadian Alliance Terminals, Logistisolve Inc.

Norwester Distribution Centre Edmonton, AB 50% 443,334 221,667 89% Serviplast, Sauder Industries Ltd.

Skyline Industrial Park (4 properties) Calgary, AB 100% 334,756 334,756 90% Calgary Regional Health Authority, Field Aviation

Valleyfield Business Centre (Bldgs A–D) 2880–45th Avenue S.W., Calgary, AB 100% 272,611 272,611 98% Enerflex Systems Ltd., Heritage Office Furnishings

Total Industrial/Warehouse 1 6,115,845 5,894,178 94%

OFFICE PROPERTIES

1801 Hollis Street Halifax, NS 100% 220,294 220,294 89% ACOA, Canada Life

Metropolitan Place 99 Wyse Road, Halifax, NS 50% 200,106 100,053 92% Aviva Insurance, HMQ in Right of Canada

Young Tower 6080 Young Street, Halifax, NS 100% 140,283 140,283 96% EastLink, Public Works – R.C.M.P.

100 Alexis Nihon Boulevard Montreal, PQ 100% 287,827 287,827 84% Quintiles, Environment Canada, Groupe Voyage Vision 2000

Place Sherbrooke 1010 Sherbrooke Street W.,Montreal,PQ 100% 329,007 329,007 94% Canaccord Capital, Omni Montreal Hotel Trust

2300 St. Laurent Boulevard Ottawa, ON 50% 37,500 18,750 100% Her Majesty the Queen

80 Micro Court Markham, ON 100% 81,905 81,905 100% Toyota Credit, National Computer Professionals

110 Yonge Street Toronto, ON 100% 149,352 149,352 95% A Canadian Chartered Bank, Morgan Meighan & Associates

525 University Avenue Toronto, ON 90.88% 190,028 172,706 100% Credit Suisse, Ontario Medical Association

Birch-Oak Centre 243–251 North Service Road and 100% 60,933 60,933 98% Royal LePage, Tempo Canada

1122 Dorval Drive, Oakville, ON

Heron’s Hill 2001 & 2005 Sheppard Avenue E. 100% 282,453 282,453 82% Unisys, Financial Linx

Toronto, ON

175 Bloor Street East Toronto, ON 100% 572,738 572,738 92% Leo Burnett, Towers Perrin, Molson Breweries of Canada

220 Portage Avenue Winnipeg, MB 50% 169,004 84,502 99% A Canadian Chartered Bank, Great-West Life Assurance

1200 Burrard Street Vancouver, BC 100% 68,966 68,966 94% A Canadian Chartered Bank, Ambulatory Surgical Centre

1185 West Georgia Street Vancouver, BC 100% 165,843 165,843 89% Canada Safeway, Fitness World

1508 West Broadway 3 Vancouver, BC 100% 82,284 82,284 97% London Life Insurance, Crawford Adjusters Canada

Sun Life Plaza 4 Calgary, AB 50% 1,032,797 516,399 95% Suncor Energy, Provident Energy

Total Office 1 4,071,320 3,334,295 92%

TOTAL COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 16,304,284 13,712,078 95%

1 Subtotal and total occupancy percentages are based on CREIT’s percentage ownership only.
2 Certain occupants are franchisees and the franchisor is not a party to the lease with CREIT.
3 CREIT holds the property pursuant to a long-term ground lease.
4 A portion of the property is subject to a long-term ground lease.
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MD&A At-a-Glance

This “MD&A At-a-Glance” highlights some of the more significant and informative

items that appear in the full MD&A. For a complete summary of CREIT’s strategies,

business environment, performance, risks and other material information, please

refer to the full MD&A beginning on page 17.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

IN 2004 VS. 2003

• Distributable Income per Unit (fully diluted) rose

10% to $1.49 in 2004. Distributions paid per Unit

increased 1.2% to $1.25. Notwithstanding the

higher cash distributions in 2004, CREIT lowered 

its payout ratio to 83% in 2004 from 90% in 2003.

• Real estate acquisition activity totalled $201 million

in 2004, up from $78 million in 2003.

• 1.87 million square feet of space was added to 

the CREIT portfolio during 2004 through acquisitions

and the completion of development projects.

• The total square footage of CREIT’s real estate portfolio

increased to 13.7 million square feet, up 16.6%.

• A noteworthy acquisition was the purchase of a 

50% interest in Sun Life Plaza in Calgary, Alberta.

• Revenues increased to $224.1 million in 2004, 

up 17.0% year-over-year.

• General and administrative expenses rose 19.0%

due to increased compliance costs relating to

continuous disclosure and financial reporting 

and higher Trustee remuneration.

• Our acquisition capacity was $75.0 million at the

end of 2004. Future commitments at year-end

totalled $18.0 million, including $7.2 million to

acquire a 93,090 square foot industrial building 

in Edmonton, Alberta.

• As a diversified REIT, CREIT invests in three

property types: retail, industrial and office. Same-

asset net operating income (per occupied foot) in

our industrial portfolio rose 3.1% in 2004, with

retail essentially flat and office declining 2.0%.

• CREIT’s weighted average cost of mortgage debt

was reduced to 6.16% as at December 31, 2004,

from 6.32% a year earlier.

• The weighted average term to maturity on our

mortgage debt was increased to 5.58 years in

2004 from 5.01 years in 2003.

• CREIT’s indebtedness ratio increased marginally 

to 52.8% in 2004 from 52.1% in 2003. Our target

operating debt level is 55.0% and our permitted

level is 60.0%.

CREIT’s average cost 
of mortgage debt continued 
to decline in 2004.

Asset Type Diversification (%)
(based on net operating income 
for 2004)

Retail  46%         
Industrial 19%
Office  35%

Average Cost of 
Mortgage Debt 
(%)

6.16
6.32

03 04

Compared to 2003, the
proportion of industrial 
and office assets in the
total portfolio increased by
1 percentage point each,
while the proportion of
retail assets declined by 
2 percentage points.
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$201M
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16.6%

R E V E N U E S

I N C R E A S E D

17.0%

RECENT INDUSTRY ACCOUNTING

CHANGES APPLICABLE TO CREIT

• Effective January 1, 2004, the Trust is required 

to record rental income over the full term of each

lease on a straight-line basis (previously recognized

when due).

• Effective September 12, 2003, for each new

acquisition, the Trust is required to allocate 

the purchase price to land, building, tenant

improvements and intangibles.

• Also, changes to generally accepted accounting

principles (GAAP) require that depreciation of

income properties must be recorded on a 

straight-line basis over the remaining estimated

useful life of the property. Previously, the sinking

method of depreciation was used.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

• In 2005, leases on about 11.8% of our space 

(by square footage) are due to expire, with about 

one-third of that amount related to industrial 

space in Alberta.

• At the end of 2004, no one tenant represented 

more than 2.6% of CREIT’s revenues, while the top

10 tenants accounted for about 19% of revenues, 

compared to 21% a year ago. CREIT’s largest tenant

in 2004 was the Government of Canada (gross

rental calculation).

• A 1 percentage point change in average occupancy

in CREIT’s portfolio during 2005 would change gross

revenue by about $2.4 million or $0.04 per Unit.

OUTLOOK

• At the time of writing this report, leasing activity

relating to our 2005 expiries was ahead of target.

• The acquisitions market remains highly competitive

but we expect to maintain an active program

throughout 2005 as CREIT enjoys a very

competitive cost of capital.

• Given the strong market for acquisitions, we have

taken steps to initiate the disposition of partial

interests in some of our office assets. Our objective

is to own each of our office buildings in a 50/50 

co-ownership arrangement with an institutional

investor, with CREIT being the managing partner.

Proceeds from the sale of partial interests will be

redeployed into new acquisitions over time.

Sun Life Plaza, in downtown
Calgary, was a major acquisition
for CREIT in 2004. 

For more detail on this property,
please refer to the inside back
cover of this annual report.

Lease Expiries

Square Footage % of Asset Class

Retail 232,589 5.2%

Industrial 967,866 16.4%

Office 412,968 12.4%

Total 1,613,423 11.8%*

* of total portfolio
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On June 15, 2004, CREIT acquired a 50% ownership interest in the

Sun Life Plaza, located on the northwest corner of 4th Avenue SW

and 1st Street SW, in downtown Calgary. Sun Life Financial retained

a 50% ownership interest. 

The property is a 1,030,000 square foot Class ‘A’ office complex,

consisting of three towers with 28 storeys each, built in 1981, 1982

and 1984. The towers are connected by a 30,000 square foot atrium.

Major tenants include Suncor Energy, Provident Energy, Keyspan

Energy and Insignia Corporation.

There is a recently renovated conference centre on site, widely

utilized by tenants of the property, along with a food court and

service retail. The property is part of the Plus 15 above-ground

walkway system, which provides indoor access to most major 

office buildings in downtown Calgary.

S U N  L I F E  P L A Z A C A L G A R Y ,  A L B E R T A



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Results of Operations and Financial Condition
February 10, 2005

PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING DISCLAIMER

Management’s discussion and analysis of results of

operations and financial condition (“MD&A”) should be read

in conjunction with CREIT’s financial statements for the

years ended December 31, 2004, December 31, 2003 and

December 31, 2002. Historical results, including trends

which might appear, should not be taken as indicative of

future operations or results.

Certain information in this MD&A may constitute “forward-

looking” statements which involve known and unknown

risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the

actual results, performance or achievements of CREIT, or

industry results, to be materially different from any future

results, performance or achievements expressed or implied

by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking

statements (which involve significant risks and uncertainties

and should not be read as guarantees of future performance

or results) include statements related to acquisitions,

development activities, future maintenance and leasing

expenditures, financing and the availability of financing

sources. Management believes that the expectations

reflected in forward-looking statements are based upon

reasonable assumptions; however, Management can give no

assurance that actual results will be consistent with these

forward-looking statements.

Without limiting the foregoing, the words “believe”,

“expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “estimate” and similar

expressions identify forward-looking statements.

Factors that could cause actual results, performance, or

achievements to differ materially from those expressed or

implied by forward-looking statements, include, but are not

limited to, general economic conditions, the availability of

new competitive supply of commercial real estate which

may become available either through construction or

sublease, CREIT’s ability to maintain occupancy and to

timely lease or release space at current or anticipated rents,

tenant bankruptcies, financial difficulties and defaults,

changes in interest rates, changes in operating costs,

CREIT’s ability to obtain adequate insurance coverage at a

reasonable cost, and the availability of financing.

These forward-looking statements are made as of

February 10, 2005 and CREIT assumes no obligation to

update or revise them to reflect new events or circumstances.

OVERVIEW OF THE BUSINESS

CREIT was established in 1984 and became a real estate

investment trust (REIT) in July 1993.

CREIT’s primary business goal is to accumulate a portfolio

of high-quality real estate assets; and then deliver the

benefits of such real estate ownership to Unitholders.

The primary benefit is a reliable and, over time, increasing

cash distribution.

The risk and reliability characteristics of real estate asset

classes are different, and delivering on the primary benefit

objectives requires a mix of assets that balances risks and

rewards, continuously improving the returns from the assets

currently owned and making quality acquisitions that are

accretive in the long-term.

CREIT owns and manages a diversified real estate portfolio

of office, industrial and retail properties throughout Canada

and in the Chicago, Illinois area. The portfolio’s 132

properties contain 16.3 million square feet of leasable space,

with CREIT’s ownership interest at 13.7 million square feet.

CREIT’s retail portfolio is focused primarily on food-store-

anchored strip plazas and other unenclosed shopping

centres anchored by leading retailers on long-term leases.

CREIT owns a 100% interest in 30 retail properties,

comprising 2.8 million square feet, and at least a 50%

interest in 16 retail properties. CREIT’s retail portfolio totals

4.5 million square feet.

CREIT’s industrial portfolio is focused on distribution

facilities, buildings used for light manufacturing and/or

“flex-space” facilities of a size and configuration that will

readily accommodate the diverse needs of a broad range

of business tenants. CREIT owns a 100% interest in

68 industrial properties and a 50% interest in one property.

CREIT’s industrial portfolio totals 5.9 million square feet.
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CREIT’s office portfolio is focused on well-located, quality

office buildings in major Canadian markets. CREIT owns a

100% interest in 12 office buildings, comprising 2.4 million

square feet, and partial interests in 5 properties. CREIT’s

office portfolio totals 3.3 million square feet.

CREIT’s overall investment strategy also incorporates

geographic diversification. The chart below outlines the

number of properties and square footage owned by CREIT

in each of its geographic markets.
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Maritimes Quebec Ontario Prairies  

Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s)

Retail 10 486 3 298 11 1,661 1 195 
Industrial 19 1,057 2 211 16 1,720 – –
Office 3 461 2 617 7 1,339 1 84

32 2,004 7 1,126 34 4,720 2 279

Alberta B.C. U.S. Total

Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s) Properties Sq.Ft. (000’s)

Retail 12 756 8 911 1 177 46 4,484
Industrial 32 2,906 – – – – 69 5,894
Office 1 516 3 317 – – 17 3,334

45 4,178 11 1,228 1 177 132 13,712 

STRATEGY

The cornerstones of CREIT’s strategy are an integrated

management structure, an asset base diversified both by

asset class and geographic region, and strong financial

management with policies established for the long-term

health and performance of the portfolio. 

Management intends to achieve CREIT’s business goals by:

• Accumulating a portfolio of high-quality properties,

diversified geographically and by product type

• Focusing on property operations and delivering superior

service to tenants

• Managing properties to maintain high occupancies

• Increasing rental rates when market conditions permit

• Managing debt to obtain both an efficient cost and a

staggered debt maturity profile

• Disposing of, or redeveloping, non-core or under-

performing assets 

CREIT’s Portfolio Mix Target Actual1

Retail 50% 46% 
Industrial 25% 19% 
Office 25% 35% 

1 Based upon property net operating income before inter-segment

adjustments, for the year ended December 31, 2004.
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CREIT’s Retail Portfolio

Management’s goal is to balance the real estate portfolio so

that 50% of CREIT’s income is generated from “proprietary”

retail real estate. CREIT defines “proprietary” to mean assets

which are both the “product of choice” for tenants, and

assets that enjoy significant barriers to entry from new

competitive product. In this “niche” subset of retail real

estate, Management focuses on food-store-anchored strip

plazas and other unenclosed or “open-air” centres anchored

by leading retailers on long-term leases.

Characteristics of proprietary retail real estate include national

or high credit-worthy tenants on long-term leases, little

volatility over time in occupancy, limited income growth in

the short-to-mid-term, a low yield given the low investment

risk and a commensurate high cost or purchase price.

Management views the retail real estate portion of the

portfolio as the foundation to a reliable cash distribution.

Proprietary retail real estate, however, will not deliver the

income growth required to achieve our growth objectives

because many tenants are on long-term lease contracts

with minimal rental steps.

CREIT’s retail portfolio is currently not all proprietary in

nature, however, future acquisitions in this asset class

will focus on this type of asset.

The retail portfolio square footage, and year-end

occupancy over the past 11 years is outlined in the chart

below. Occupancy over time has remained very high

with little volatility.
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(000’s) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Retail sq.ft. 402 534 1,793 2,563 2,872 3,087 3,101 3,080 3,822 4,068 4,484
% Occupied 99 98 97 97 98 97 97 97 98 99 98
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CREIT’s Industrial Portfolio

Management’s goal is to balance the portfolio such that 25%

of CREIT’s income is generated from distribution facilities,

buildings used for light manufacturing, and/or “flex-space”

facilities, of a size and configuration that will readily

accommodate the diverse needs of a broad range of tenants.

Such properties constitute CREIT’s industrial portfolio.

Management’s focus in this portion of the portfolio is on

high-quality “generic” product, located in target markets

where CREIT can build up critical mass, so as to enjoy

management efficiencies, and as well, to accommodate any

expansion or contraction requirements of the tenant base.

The term “generic” refers to product that is appealing to a

wide range of potential users, so that the leasing or the

releasing time frame (“lease cycle time”) is reduced.

Generic industrial real estate provides some degree of

reliability in occupancy; however, it has greater volatility

than proprietary retail product. Generic industrial product

does, however, offer reasonable income growth possibilities.

To create a “deal-flow” or acquisition pipeline for high-

quality industrial real estate product, and because it is a

very competitive acquisition environment, CREIT has

entered into several joint venture arrangements with

regional developers, whereby CREIT finances the

development of industrial properties and CREIT’s partner

provides the development and construction expertise.

The industrial portfolio square footage and year-end

occupancy over the past 11 years is outlined in the chart

below. Occupancy over time, although consistently high,

reflects greater volatility than CREIT’s retail portfolio.

2 0 C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4

(000’s) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Industrial sq.ft. 480 480 3,723 4,401 4,688 4,483 4,484 4,374 4,783 4,879 5,894
% Occupied 96 95 96 95 95 94 97 97 93 95 94
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CREIT’s Office Portfolio

Management’s goal is to balance the real estate portfolio

such that 25% of CREIT’s income is generated from

office buildings. Management’s focus is on large, well

located buildings in target cities with an emphasis on

acquiring at below-replacement cost, so that CREIT is able

to competitively compete on rental rates, even in the face

of new construction entering the marketplace.

Office is the most volatile of CREIT’s three asset classes, both

on occupancy and on rental rates. As a result, Management’s

aim is to seek an institutional partner for each of the office

assets, so that CREIT reduces its exposure to any one office

tenant. As the managing partner, CREIT’s overall returns are

enhanced through the generation of fee income from the day-

to-day management and leasing activities at these properties.

Given that CREIT’s acquisition costs on a per square foot

of rentable area are generally well below the current

replacement cost, and given the prevailing rental markets,

Management believes that CREIT’s office portfolio provides

significant long-term income growth potential.

The office portfolio square footage and year-end occupancy

over the past 11 years is outlined in the chart below.

Occupancy over time reflects greater volatility than retail

or industrial.
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(000’s) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Office sq.ft. – – 876 865 861 978 895 1,973 2,542 2,813 3,334
% Occupied – – 88 89 88 92 97 94 90 94 93
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Historical Cash Distributions

The chart below summarizes the cash distribution per CREIT Unit, and the closing price of CREIT’s Units on the Toronto

Stock Exchange, on the last trading day of the year for the last 11 years. The chart also demonstrates the reliable and, over

time, increasing cash distribution.

(dollars) 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004

Cash distribution 
per Unit 0.58 0.82 0.91 1.03 1.14 1.17 1.17 1.17 1.20 1.23 1.25

Closing price 8.00 9.38 12.90 12.70 10.55 10.95 11.45 12.71 13.13 15.97 17.75
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

During 2004, investment markets were on divergent paths

with some leasing markets, with rental rates and occupancy

levels in some sectors (particularly office) experiencing

softness, while acquisition prices increased. The strength in

acquisition investment activity is a function of risk adjusted

returns being quite favourable, in relative terms, in real estate.

Occupancies and rents in retail properties have remained

strong due to the strength of consumer spending, and

Management anticipates that occupancies and rents will

remain healthy in 2005 barring an economic downturn.

Industrial real estate occupancies and rental rates were

generally steady throughout 2004, with some localized

softness due to speculative construction. The escalating

Canadian dollar vis-à-vis the U.S. dollar may result in the

weakening of certain manufacturers and export operations.

However, distribution and light manufacturing, geared

towards the local or national markets, are the predominant

use in CREIT’s industrial portfolio, and Management

anticipates that in 2005, CREIT’s industrial portfolio should

perform as well as it did in 2004.

Office product has experienced pressures from reduced

demand for space and competition resulting from sub-let

space. While there are encouraging indications that declines

in demand and in rents have bottomed out, they do not

necessarily translate into a strengthening office leasing

market. However, the recent softness in the office market

fundamentals has prevented any significant new product

development. Longer-term, given the lack of development,

office rental rates should experience significant growth, as

economic expansion absorbs the current excess capacity.

During 2004 and 2003 the Canadian economy operated in

a low inflation and a low cost of debt environment in

comparison to recent history, which permitted CREIT to

reduce its interest expense and increase the average term

to maturity of its fixed term debt. The low interest rate

environment has also produced a more competitive

acquisition environment, resulting in higher asking prices

for quality real estate product with corresponding lower

going-in returns. There currently does not appear to be

inflationary pressures, however, Management is of the view

that such inflationary pressures will surface during the later

part of 2005 as North American economies continue to

improve, which may result in an escalation in interest rates.

KEY PERFORMANCE DRIVERS

There are numerous factors, many beyond Management’s

control, that affect CREIT’s ability to achieve its goals.

These key performance drivers are divided into internal

and external factors.

Management believes that the key internal performance

drivers are:

• increasing occupancies by leasing up vacant space;

• increasing rental rates as market conditions permit;

• improving tenant service which should lead to higher

tenant retention; and

• reducing occupancy costs through achieving economies

of scale and diligently managing contracts.

Management believes that the key external performance

drivers are:

• the availability of new property acquisitions which fit

into CREIT’s portfolio plan;

• the availability of equity capital at a reasonable cost; and

• the availability of debt capital at a cost and on terms

conducive to CREIT’s goals.

The key performance indicators by which Management

measures CREIT’s performance are as follows:

• distributable income per Unit;

• funds from operations after provision for 

non-recoverable items per Unit;

• “same-asset” net operating income;

• overall indebtedness level;

• weighted average cost of debt; and

• occupancy.

Management believes that its key performance measures

allow it to track progress towards the achievement of

CREIT’s goals.
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PART II

SUMMARY ANNUAL INFORMATION

CREIT’s Summary of Selected Annual Information is presented below:

($000’s except per Unit amounts and other data) 2004 2003 2002 

Gross revenues $ 224,123 $ 190,950 $ 162,970 
Income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and income tax 48,302 60,740 52,358 
Income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and income tax/Unit .88 1.19 1.16 
Income before gain (loss) on disposition of property and income tax/Unit diluted .88 1.18 1.15 

Net income 47,451 58,446 51,647 
Net income/Unit .87 1.14 1.14 
Net income/Unit diluted .86 1.14 1.14 

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization1 137,949 116,036 100,062 

Funds from operations2 92,177 74,634 64,929 
Funds from operations/Unit 1.68 1.46 1.43 
Funds from operations/Unit diluted 1.67 1.45 1.43

Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items3 78,556 62,845 59,903 
Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items/Unit 1.43 1.23 1.32 
Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items/Unit diluted 1.43 1.22 1.32    

Distributable income4 82,329 69,956 60,529 
Distributable income/Unit 1.50 1.37 1.34 
Distributable income/Unit diluted 1.49 1.36 1.33    

Cash distributions/Unit 1.25 1.23 1.20

Total assets 1,468,705 1,292,566 1,192,862 
Total mortgage and bank debt $ 815,554 $ 694,878 $ 650,227    

OTHER DATA (END OF YEAR)
Rentable square footage: – Retail $ 4,483,605 $ 4,068,421 $ 3,821,436 

– Industrial  5,894,178 4,878,842 4,782,463 
– Office  3,334,295 2,813,019 2,542,053 

– Total  $ 13,712,078 $ 11,760,282 $ 11,145,952

Occupancy %: – Retail 98.4% 98.7% 97.6% 
– Industrial 93.9 94.6 93.4 
– Office 92.2 94.1 89.8 

– Total Occupancy 95.0% 95.9% 94.0%
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Notes to Summary Annual Information Table:

1 Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) is not a Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principle (GAAP) financial measure

and is presented because Management considers EBITDA to be one indicative measure of CREIT’s operating performance due to the significance of CREIT’s

real estate assets and the contractual nature of CREIT’s revenues. In addition, EBITDA can be used to measure CREIT’s ability to service debt, fund capital

needs and expand the business. EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income, cash flow from operations or any other operating or liquidity

measure prescribed by GAAP. EBITDA as calculated by CREIT may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other entities.

2004 2003 2002 

Net Income $ 47,451 $ 58,446 $ 51,647 
Add:
Income tax expense 851 2,561 – 
Loss (gain) on disposition of property – (267) 711 
Amortization of financing costs 961 991 1,135 
Amortization of leasing costs 5,909 4,540 4,400 
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 1,775 44 –
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 2,164 94 –
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (211) (16) –
Amortization of deferred maintenance costs 1,855 1,288 1,144 
Depreciation 34,439 9,895 8,171 
Mortgage and bank loan interest 42,755 38,460 32,854 

EBITDA $ 137,949 $ 116,036 $ 100,062 

2 See pages 36–37 for an explanation and reconciliation of Funds from operations.

3 See pages 36–37 for an explanation and reconciliation of Funds from operations after provision for non-recoverable items.

4 See pages 31–32 for an explanation and reconciliation of Distributable income.
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Over the last three years total assets of CREIT have

increased considerably due to property acquisitions,

development activities and mortgage investing. Accordingly,

gross revenues, EBITDA, funds from operations and

distributable income are all reflective of an increasing

income-producing asset base.

Further, CREIT has utilized a greater amount of debt in

its capital structure than it has in the past due to the

low cost of debt as compared to the cost of equity during

this 3-year period.

Funds from operations per Unit, distributable income per

Unit and cash distributions per Unit have each increased

over the past three years, which reflects CREIT’s investing

activity, net of the cost of financing the investments, has

produced a positive contribution on a per Unit basis during

this period.
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PERFORMANCE IN 2004 AND 2003

Trends in Revenues

Total revenue for CREIT for the year ended December 31,

2004 increased 17% to $ 224.1 million from $191.0 million

for 2003.

CREIT generates revenue from the following four sources:

1. Property rental revenue which includes a basic or net

rental rate paid by tenants for their premises, plus

reimbursements or recoveries from tenants for certain

property operating costs and realty taxes relating to

those premises and the common property area;

2. Interest income generated from mortgage investment

activity, and cash balances in CREIT’s bank accounts;

3. Fee income, which includes property management fees,

leasing fees and project management fees relating to

certain co-owned properties. Fee income serves as a cash

flow supplement to enhance returns from co-owned

assets, and in the case of the office segment serves to

offset a portion of the anticipated volatility. The

generation of fee income is not viewed as a separate

segmented business activity; and

4. Lease termination income, which relates to payments

received from tenants who cancelled or terminated their

lease prior to the contractual expiry date.
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PROPERTY RENTAL REVENUE
2004 2003 Change  

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Same-asset rental revenue $ 171,019 $ 165,624 $ 5,395 3%
Acquisitions/Redevelopments/Developments 47,879 21,427 26,452 123 

Property rental revenue $ 218,898 $ 187,051 $ 31,847 17%

Same-asset refers to those properties that were owned and

operated by CREIT for the entire year ended December 31,

2004 and for the year ended December 31, 2003 and where

such assets had no new development, redevelopment or

new construction occurring. Approximately 83% of the

increase in property rental revenue for the year 2004 was

attributable to new acquisitions, and the balance due to

increases in same-asset rental revenue. 

Certain leases provide for tenant occupancy where

minimum rent payments increase during the term of the

lease. In 2004, the Trust began to record rental income for

the full term of each lease on a straight-line basis, in

accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered

Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Section 1100, with the

term of existing leases considered to commence January 1,

2004 or the actual commencement date if such date is

after January 1, 2004. The amounts included in rental

income that had not yet been billed, were approximately

$4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

On a same-asset basis, approximately $3.0 million, or

56% of the increase in rental revenue, was due to the effect

of the straight-line rent. Excluding the impact of the

straight-line rent, on a same-asset basis, rental revenue

increased by $2.4 million, or 1%.

Property rental revenue per occupied foot, excluding the

impact of straight-line rent, increased to $17.65 for the year

ended December 31, 2004 as compared to $17.31 in 2003.

Property rental revenue per occupied foot on a same-asset

basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent, was

$17.12 for the year of 2004 as compared to $17.01 in 2003. 
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Acquisition activity, the completion of properties under development, properties redeveloped and properties expanded

during 2004 and 2003, and as a result, properties excluded from the definition of same-asset, are outlined below.

2004 ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition Ownership 

Cost Interest 

Property Property Type Date Acquired Square Footage1 ($ millions) Acquired

Sun Life Plaza, Calgary, Alberta Office June 15/04 516,295 $ 103.3 50.0% 
182–192 Chain Lake Drive, Halifax, Nova Scotia Retail July 7/04 181,701 17.7 100.0% 
Greystone Court, Halifax, Nova Scotia Industrial July 7/04 96,781 9.1 100.0%
Halifax Park Centre, Halifax, Nova Scotia Retail July 7/04 56,107 6.8 100.0% 
Lacewood Square, Halifax, Nova Scotia Retail July 7/04 45,428 9.0 100.0% 
555 Edinburgh Drive, Moncton, New Brunswick Industrial July 8/04 25,756 1.4 100.0% 
201 Chain Lake Drive Retail Oct 31/04 59,249 6.8 50.0%

981,317 $ 154.1

2004 TRANSFERS FROM PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (“PUD”)
Transfer Ownership 

from PUD Interest 

Property Property Type Date of Transfer Square Footage1 ($ millions) Acquired

City West, Edmonton, Alberta Industrial Apr 1/04 327,449 $ 17.7 100.0% 
Great Plains Building A&C, Calgary, Alberta Industrial June 1/04 293,073 13.2 100.0% 
86 Troop Avenue, Halifax, Nova Scotia Industrial June 1/04 65,892 4.7 100.0%
Valleyfield – Buildings C&D, Calgary, Alberta Industrial Sept 1/04 47,829 2.9 100.0%
65 John Savage Drive, Halifax, Nova Scotia Industrial Nov 1/04 149,819 8.5 100.0%

884,062 $ 47.0  

2003 ACQUISITIONS
Acquisition Ownership 

Cost Interest 

Property Property Type Date Acquired Square Footage1 ($ millions) Acquired 

801 St Clair St., Chatham Retail Jan 28/03 114,532 $ 3.8 50.0% 
1508, 1580 West Broadway, Vancouver Office/Retail Jun 27/03 146,467 42.2 100.0% 
Lot 1104 Troop Avenue, Halifax Land Aug 26/03 N/A 0.7 100.0% 
6290 Kestrel Rd., Mississauga Industrial Oct 3/03 40,549 2.4 100.0% 
690 Gana Court, Mississauga Industrial Oct 3/03 59,480 3.4 100.0% 
St. Albert Square, St. Albert2 Land Oct 29/03 N/A 3.4 100.0% 
Cornerstone Power Centre, Medicine Hat2 Land Oct 29/03 N/A 4.6 100.0% 
801 St. Clair St., Chatham3 Land Dec 4/03 N/A 0.2 50.0% 
209 Chain Lake Dr., Halifax Retail Dec 8/03 40,617 6.1 50.0%
100 Alexis Nihon Blvd., Montreal4 Office Dec 12/03 179,104 11.1 62.5%

580,749 $ 77.9  
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2004 AND 2003 REDEVELOPMENTS AND PROPERTIES EXPANDED
Ownership

Interest

Property Property Type Square Footage1 Acquired

Hull Power Centre Retail 123,210 50.1%
Blue Bonnets Shopping Centre Retail 112,362 50.0%
Baymac Shopping Centre Retail 128,661 50.0% 
Westridge Shopping Centre Retail 207,953 50.0% 
London Town Square Retail 117,186 100.0%

1 Square footage amounts represent CREIT’s share only.

2 CREIT acquired the land and consolidated the leasehold interest in the retail property already owned by CREIT into a freehold interest in the property.

3 Land acquired adjacent to 801 St. Clair Street. The additional land will help facilitate the redevelopment of the property.

4 With this acquisition CREIT now owns 100% of the property.

INTEREST INCOME

Interest Income for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased 28%, to $2.8 million, from $2.2 million in 2003. The increase

in interest income, due primarily to additional mortgage investments, is summarized as follows:

2004 2003 Change  

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Bank interest $ 147 $ 29 $ 118 407% 
Mortgage interest income 2,629 2,117 512 24 
Other 23 34 (11) (32)

$ 2,799 $ 2,180 $ 619 28% 

CREIT has $33.7 million invested in mortgages receivable, certain of which provide CREIT with an option to acquire an

interest in the underlying property. The following table summarizes CREIT’s mortgage investments at December 31, 2004.

Principal Maturity Interest Rate  

Security ($ millions) (%) 

Eastgate Industrial Centre, Calgary, Alberta $ 0.5 Demand 9.0%
3075 & 3083 Highway 7 East, Markham, Ontario 2.7 June 26/06 7.0 
3075 & 3083 Highway 7 East, Markham, Ontario 2.5 July 3/06 10.0
1280 Fanshawe Park Road and 1287 Hyde Park Road, 
London, Ontario 15.1 Aug 15/07 10.0 

801 St. Clair Street, Chatham, Ontario 1.5 Jan 27/08 10.0 
Eastgate Industrial Centre, Calgary, Alberta 5.5 Nov 1/09 9.0 
201 Chain Lake, Halifax, Nova Scotia 4.5 Dec 1/09 10.0 
209 Chain Lake, Halifax, Nova Scotia 1.4 Dec 1/09 10.0 

Total $ 33.7 9.6%
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FEE INCOME

Fee income increased 8% to $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $1.2 million during 2003. This increase

was primarily due to a co-ownership arrangement entered into during this year, and because of the variable nature of

transaction-based leasing and project management fees.

2004 2003 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Property management fees $ 1,119 $ 908 $ 211 23% 
Leasing fees 4 168 (164) (98)
Project management fees 175 122 53 43  

$ 1,298 $ 1,198 $ 100 8% 

LEASE TERMINATION INCOME

Lease termination income was $1.1 million for 2004 as compared to $0.5 million for 2003. Lease termination income is normal

in the real estate industry but such income is not predictable, and for the year-over-year increase, is not indicative of a trend.

Trends in Expenses

PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

Total property operating expenses increased 14%, to $34.3 million, for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $30.1 million

in 2003.

2004 2003 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Same-asset property $ 27,792 $ 27,099 $ 693 3% 
Acquisitions 6,533 2,985 3,548 119 

$ 34,325 $ 30,084 $ 4,241 14% 

On a same-asset basis, the property operating expenses increased 3% year-over-year and such increase exceeds the general

consumer price index change of 2.1%. This increase in same-asset property expenses are primarily attributed to an increase

in property insurance offset by decreases in utility costs.

As a result of world events over the past few years, premiums for insurance have increased substantially for all property

owners, however, there has been an easing of these increases in 2005. Utility costs have decreased in 2004 over 2003 as a

result of the capping of electricity rates in Ontario and successful efforts to better manage usage.

REALTY TAX

The realty tax expense increased 14%, to $41.3 million, for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $36.4 million in 2003.

2004 2003 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Same-asset property $ 33,149 $ 32,480 $ 669 2% 
Acquisitions/Redevelopments/Developments 8,200 3,932 4,268 109  

$ 41,349 $ 36,412 $ 4,937 14% 

On a same-asset basis, realty tax expense increased 2% year-over-year and such increase approximates the general consumer

price index change of 2.1%. 
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PROPERTY ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Property administrative expenses relate to personnel,

premises, and administrative costs of CREIT’s regional

property management offices and to personnel, premises,

and information systems in relation to the head office

support for CREIT’s nation-wide real estate operations.

Property administrative expenses increased 23% to

$8.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from

$6.5 million in 2003. These expenses have increased due

to increased property management and leasing staff

requirements resulting from significant portfolio growth

over the last few years and due to commensurate staffing

increases in accounting, information systems, human

resources, acquisitions and business analyses, as well as

overall compensation increases. Barring significant new

acquisition activity, management expects these expenses

will reflect only inflationary and competitive pressures

in future periods.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT FEES

The Trust’s U.S. property is managed by a third party. The

Trust has also entered into agreements with co-owners on

certain properties located in British Columbia, Alberta and

Ontario whereby the co-owner performs part of the property

management activities.

Property management fees increased to $0.3 million for

the year ended December 31, 2004, from $ 0.2 million in

2003, due primarily to City West Industrial located in

Edmonton, Alberta, and Great Plains Industrial located

in Calgary, Alberta, being externally managed for a period

of time in 2004. 

AMORTIZATION

Deferred Maintenance

Amortization of deferred maintenance increased 44% to

$1.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from

$1.3 million in 2003. The year-over-year increase is due to

increasing levels of deferred maintenance projects over

the past 24 months, resulting in additional amortization.

Leasing Costs

Leasing cost expenditures decreased 26% to $8.4 million for

the year ended December 31, 2004 from $11.4 million in

December 31, 2003. The decrease in expenditures is due to

a lower volume of leasing activity in 2004 and such activity

being transacted at a lower average cost per square foot

leased. Leasing costs are deferred and amortized on a

straight-line basis over the term of the underlying lease.

Amortization of leasing costs for the year ended December 31

increased 30% to $5.9 million in 2004 from $4.5 million in 2003.
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2004 2003 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Same-asset property $ 5,626 $ 4,336 $ 1,290 30% 
Acquisitions 283 204 79 39  

$ 5,909 $ 4,540 $ 1,369 30% 

Leasing Costs and Intangible Assets on Acquisition of Properties

Pursuant to CICA Handbook sections 1581 and 3062, for acquisitions of property after September 12, 2003, the acquisition cost

is allocated to land, building, tenant improvements and intangibles. (Refer to Part V “Changes to Accounting Policies”.)

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisitions of properties was $1.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. Amortization

of intangible assets on acquisition of properties was $ 2.2 million in 2004.

Financing Costs

Amortization of financing costs remained constant at $1.0 million in 2004.
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DEPRECIATION

Effective January 1, 2004, the Trust adopted the straight-line method of depreciation for income producing properties, on a

prospective basis, in accordance with the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section 1100.

Under this method, depreciation is charged to income on a straight-line basis over the remaining estimated useful life of the

property. The effect of the change from the sinking fund method to the straight-line method was an increase of $22.5 million

for the year ended December 31, 2004.

2004 2003 Change

($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Same-asset property $ 28,931 $ 8,727 $ 20,204 232% 
Acquisitions/Redevelopments/Developments 5,508 1,168 4,340 372  

$ 34,439 $ 9,895 $ 24,544 248% 

MORTGAGE AND BANK LOAN INTEREST

Mortgage and bank loan interest increased 11% to $42.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from $38.5 million in

2003. This period-over-period change is due to the utilization of a larger amount of debt to fund acquisition activities with

such increased debt levels offset by a lower average cost of debt.

Key Per formance Indicators

At December 31, 2004 and 2003, CREIT’s weighted average cost of debt was as follows:

2004 2003 Change 

Mortgage debt 6.16% 6.32% (0.16)% 
Bank operating facilities 3.73% 3.86% (0.13)% 
Total cost of debt 5.87% 5.90% (0.03)% 
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GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

General and administrative expenses increased 19% to

$2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 from

$1.7 million in 2003, due to increases in audit fees, trustee

remuneration and legal fees. Given the changing continuous

disclosure and reporting requirements applicable to public

entities like CREIT, it is reasonable to conclude these costs

will continue to escalate by rates exceeding general inflation

over the next several years.

GAIN (LOSS) ON DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY

The gain on disposition of property during 2003 relates to

the sale of 3.21 acres of unutilized land at the Wal-Mart

property in Hull, Quebec, which was sold for a gain of

$0.3 million at CREIT’s 50.1% ownership interest.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

During 2003, CREIT refinanced the mortgage on its

U.S. property. As a result, the full deductibility of interest

expense in respect of the mortgage was no longer permitted

for U.S. tax purposes.

Also during 2003, CREIT incorporated a new Illinois company

and transferred, on a tax-deferred basis, its property into

this wholly owned subsidiary. By isolating the investment

and the related mortgage debt in one entity CREIT has

maximized the interest deductibility for U.S. tax purposes.

CREIT accounts for the future income tax costs or liabilities

resulting from the subsidiary’s deductible or taxable

temporary differences pursuant to the CICA Handbook

Section 3465.

DISTRIBUTABLE INCOME

Distributable Income (DI) is not a measure defined by

GAAP and there is no standardized measure of determining

distributable income. DI, as presented, is not comparable

to similar measures presented by other real estate

investment trusts. 

CREIT defines DI to mean the net income of the Trust

determined in accordance with GAAP, adjusted by (i) adding

back both the depreciation expense on real property and

the future income tax expense and, (ii) excluding gains

and losses on sale of real property.

Management considers DI to be an indicative measure of

CREIT’s overall operating performance due to Management’s

belief that commercial real estate, if properly maintained

and managed, should generally not depreciate predictably

over time. Improvement in DI per Unit is one of Management’s

key performance indicators.

As a result of recent accounting policy changes, and the

prospective nature of their application, year-over-year

changes are not comparable. 

Management believes that DI pursuant to the accounting

policy changes is a better performance measure than

previously existed due primarily to the deduction from DI

of the amortization of leasing costs on acquisitions of

properties and the deduction of amortization of intangible

assets on acquisition of properties. Prior to the CICA

Handbook changes, Canadian public real estate entities

accounted for acquisitions by allocating the purchase price

and closing costs associated with the purchase only to

tangible assets such as land and building. From an

accounting standpoint, the net income recorded from the

purchased asset pursuant to GAAP was without proper

matching of a corresponding expense associated with

locating and putting in place tenants to occupy such space.

Canadian REITs have reacted differently to these accounting

policy changes. CREIT has chosen to deduct from DI the

amortization of intangibles and leasing cost on acquisition

of property.

Further pursuant to the CICA Handbook, commencing

January 1, 2004, the cash rent paid by a tenant under a lease

must be averaged over the term of the lease. Certain leases

provide for tenant rent payments to increase over the term

of the lease. Previously, revenue was recognized as the cash

was received. This accounting treatment gave the impression

of growth in revenues where the underlying business terms

of the transaction called for varying rental payments under

the lease obligation in future periods relating to a historical

lease contract. CREIT has chosen to include the new

accounting treatment for revenue recognition in DI and to

correct the mismatching that existed resulting from

recognizing revenues on a cash basis, and recognizing the

costs associated with securing the lease on a straight-line

basis over the term of the lease. 
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The schedule below highlights DI as defined in the Declaration of Trust and DI on a comparable basis (without the accounting

policy changes).

($000’s except per Unit amounts) 2004 2003 Change 

Net income for the period $ 47,451 $ 58,446 $ (10,995) 
Add:
Depreciation 34,439 9,895 24,544 
Future income tax expense 439 1,882 (1,443) 
Gain of dispositions of property – (267) 267 

Distributable income $ 82,329 $ 69,956 $ 12,373    

Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 1,775 44 1,731 
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 2,164 94 2,070 
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (211) (16) (195) 
Straight-line rent (4,021) – (4,021) 

Distributable income on a comparable basis $ 82,036 $ 70,078 $ 11,958 
Weighted average number of Units 54,801 51,240 – 
Diluted weighted average number of Units 55,079 51,439 – 
Basic DI per Unit $ 1.502 $ 1.365 $ 0.137 
Diluted DI per Unit $ 1.495 $ 1.360 $ 0.135 
Basic DI per Unit on a comparable basis $ 1.497 $ 1.368 $ 0.129 
Diluted DI per Unit on a comparable basis $ 1.489 $ 1.362 $ 0.127 
Distributions paid per Unit $ 1.245 $ 1.230 $ 0.015 
Distributions paid as a percent of diluted DI 83% 90% – 

Key Per formance Indicators

DI per Unit diluted increased 10% to $1.49 for 2004, which greatly exceeds the range of 2%–4% growth which Management

anticipates in a normal operating environment. This increase is due to improvements in same-asset performance, a declining

average cost of debt and acquisition and development activities. The accounting policy changes as outlined on the preceding

page had little impact on CREIT’s DI for 2004.

SEGMENTED INFORMATION

CREIT invests in three commercial real estate asset classes for strategic reasons, as outlined in Part I. Management measures

the performance of the commercial real estate assets on the basis of net operating income and, in particular, same-asset net

operating income, which isolates Management’s success at dealing with the key internal performance factors and indicators.

Retail Sector

Retail Assets 2004 2003 

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total 

Property rental revenue $ 63,828 $ 26,446 $ 90,274 $ 62,535 $ 18,290 $ 80,825 
Property operating expenses 6,002 1,986 7,988 6,194 2,182 8,376 
Realty tax 12,512 4,951 17,463 12,084 3,411 15,495 
Property management fees 1,894 757 2,651 1,848 527 2,375 
Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 283 14 297 296 13 309 

Property net operating income $ 43,137 $ 18,738 $ 61,875 $ 42,113 $ 12,157 $ 54,270 
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Net operating income in the retail sector increased 14% to $61.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, from

$54.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. Approximately 87% of this improvement is attributed to acquisition

activity, and the remainder is due primarily to the impact of recognizing rental revenue on a straight-line basis.

Key Per formance Indicators

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent of $1.1 million, net operating income declined by $0.1 million

over 2003. Average occupancy in the same-asset retail properties for the year ended December 31, 2004 remained constant at 98%.

On a same-asset basis, for the year ended December 31, 2004 excluding the impact of straight-line rent, net operating income

per occupied foot decreased slightly to $14.02 in 2004 from $14.09 in 2003. This decline is due primarily to the exchange rate

differential for CREIT’s U.S. assets. The retail sector performance is generally consistent with our expectations as outlined

under CREIT’s Retail Portfolio on page 19.

Industrial Sector

Industrial Assets 2004 2003 

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total 

Property rental revenue $ 32,987 $ 5,599 $ 38,586 $ 31,458 $ 170 $ 31,628 
Property operating expenses 3,768 407 4,175 3,877 2 3,879 
Realty tax 5,706 921 6,627 5,473 40 5,513 
Property management fees 1,138 175 1,313 1,081 3 1,084 
Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 502 – 502 456 – 456 

Property net operating income $ 21,873 $ 4,096 $ 25,969 $ 20,571 $ 125 $ 20,696 

Net operating income for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased 25% to $26.0 million from $20.7 million for the same

period in 2003. Approximately 75% of this increase is due to acquisition activity, 11% is due to the impact of straight-line rent

recognition, with the remaining due to improvements in the same-asset performance.

Key Per formance Indicators

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent of $0.5 million, net operating income improved 4% to

$21.3 million in 2004, from $20.6 million in 2003. Average occupancy remained constant at 94%.

Net operating income per occupied foot on a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent, increased 3% to

$4.73 in 2004 from $4.59 in 2003. This increase is due to increases in market rent occurring on leasing activities during 2004

and a decrease in bad debt provisions. The industrial sector performance is consistent with our expectations as outlined

under CREIT’s Industrial Portfolio on page 20.

Office Sector

Office Assets 2004 2003 

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total 

Property rental revenue $ 74,204 $ 15,834 $ 90,038 $ 71,631 $ 2,967 $ 74,598 
Property operating expenses 17,788 4,141 21,929 17,028 703 17,731 
Realty tax 14,931 2,328 17,259 14,923 481 15,404 
Property management fees 2,554 498 3,052 2,502 98 2,600 
Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 806 365 1,171 443 111 554 

Property net operating income $ 38,125 $ 8,502 $ 46,627 $ 36,735 $ 1,574 $ 38,309 
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Net operating income for the year ended December 31, 2004 increased 22% to $46.6 million from $38.3 million in 2003.

Approximately 83% of the annual improvement is due to acquisition activity and the remainder is primarily due to the impact

of straight-line rent.

Office markets had been soft during most of 2004 with most cities in Canada experiencing declining occupancies and

declining rental rates on new and renewal lease transactions.

Royal LePage Commercial Inc., in their fourth quarter 2004 Market Pulse update on national office leasing, indicated that the

national average office vacancy was 10.6%, down from 11.5% for the fourth quarter of 2003. The national market ended 2004

with the lowest recorded vacancy rate in eight quarters, which is indicative of growth in demand in the sector.

CREIT has performed significantly better than the national averages in the same-asset office portfolio occupancy.

Key Per formance Indicators

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent of $1.3 million, net operating income increased slightly to

$36.8 million in 2004 from $36.7 million in 2003. Average occupancy increased to 93% in 2004 as compared to 92% in 2003.

Net operating income per occupied foot, excluding the impact of straight-line rent, on a same-asset basis declined 2% to $15.93

in 2004 from $16.25 in 2003 due to declining market rents in the office sector, on average, on new and renewal lease transactions.

The office sector performance is consistent with our expectations as outlined under CREIT’s Office Portfolio on page 21.

Same-Asset Performance Summary

NET OPERATING INCOME 

2004 2003 Change

(excluding straight-line rents) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Retail $  41,998 $ 42,111 $ (113) (0.3)% 
Industrial 21,327 20,572 755 3.7 
Office 36,764 36,735 29 0.1

Total $ 100,089 $ 99,418 $ 671 0.7%

AVERAGE OCCUPANCY

(%) 2004 2003 Change 

Retail 97.9% 98.0% (0.1)%
Industrial 94.2 93.8 0.4 
Office 93.4 92.0 1.4 

Total 95.1% 94.6% 0.5%

NET OPERATING INCOME PER OCCUPIED FOOT 

2004 2003 Change  

(excluding straight-line rents) ($) ($) ($) (%) 

Retail $ 14.02 $ 14.09 $ (0.07) (0.5)%
Industrial 4.73 4.59 0.14 3.1 
Office 15.93 16.25 (0.32) (2.0) 

Total $ 10.20 $ 10.21 $ ( 0.01) (0.1)%  

3 4 C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

PART III

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As outlined in Overview of the Business, CREIT strives to

deliver to Unitholders a reliable and, over time, growing

cash distribution.

CREIT’s Declaration of Trust stipulates that the Trust will

distribute at least 85% of its distributable income unless the

Board of Trustees determines that it would be in the best

interests of the Trust to distribute a lesser amount. It has

been the Board’s policy not to distribute amounts included

in distributable income which are non-recurring in nature.

Cash flow generated from operating the portfolio represents

the primary source of liquidity to service debt, to fund

deferred maintenance and leasing costs and to fund

distributions on Units.

Cash flow from operations is dependent upon occupancy

levels of properties owned, rental rates achieved,

collectability of rent, efficiencies built into leases,

efficiencies in operations and the costs involved to lease

or renew tenant space as well as other factors.

CREIT’s cash distribution policy reflects the strategy of

maintaining a relatively constant debt level as a percentage

of total adjusted assets. Accordingly, CREIT does not

repay maturing debt from cash flow, but with proceeds

from refinancing such debt or financing unencumbered

properties, and raises new equity by issuing Units or

“recycles” equity through property dispositions to finance

new acquisition or investment activities.

DEBT REPAYMENT SUMMARY

Management attempts to stagger the maturity of CREIT’s

debt with the objective of achieving relative, even, annual

maturities over a 10-year time horizon. This implies a target

average term to maturity of five years. This strategy reduces

CREIT’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations in any one

period. From time to time CREIT will assume existing debt

upon the acquisition of income property and the maturity of

such debt may not fit within CREIT’s overall target debt

maturity profile. Realignment towards the target profile is

anticipated to occur upon the refinancing of these mortgages.

The table below outlines CREIT’s mortgage maturity

schedule together with the weighted average interest on the

debt maturing.
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Periodic Percent Weighted

Amortized Principal on Total of Total Average

Principal Maturity Principal Principal Interest Rate

Year ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) (%)

2005 $ 17,971 $ 48,139 $ 66,110 9% 6.59%
2006 16,195 86,772 102,967 15 6.11 
2007 15,322 67,010 82,332 11 6.31 
2008 13,828 15,894 29,722 4 6.12 
2009 10,954 81,572 92,526 13 5.65 
2010 9,600 53,857 63,457 9 6.06 
2011 7,743 73,189 80,932 11 6.07 
2012 6,310 67,512 73,822 10 6.19 
2013 4,878 48,912 53,790 8 6.37 
2014 3,295 37,965 41,260 6 5.98 
Thereafter 7,218 21,944 29,162 4 6.98  

$ 113,314 $ 602,766 $ 716,080 100% 6.16%
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Key Per formance Indicators

The weighted average cost of mortgage debt decreased from

6.32% at December 31, 2003 to 6.16% at December 31, 2004,

and the weighted average term to maturity increased to

5.58 years from 5.01 years.

Part of CREIT’s debt strategy involves having a sufficient

amount of mortgage debt maturing each year such that

Management is in a position to attempt to upward refinance

the principal amount of such maturing debt (current market

parameters are in the range of 65%–75% of the appraised

market value of the underlying property asset) so as to fund

the periodic amortized principal payments due on the

portfolio mortgage debt in that particular year. The success

of this strategy is dependant upon debt market parameters

existing at the time as well as the particular features and

quality of the underlying assets being financed in the period.
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DEBT REPAYMENT SCHEDULE
($000’s) 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Thereafter 

Periodic amortized principal payments $  17,971 $  16,195 $  15,322 $  13,828 $ 10,954 $ 39,044 
Mortgage due on maturity 48,139 86,772 67,010 15,894 81,572 303,379 
Bank operating facilities 99,474 – – – – –

$ 165,584 $ 102,967 $ 82,332 $ 29,722 $ 92,526 $ 342,423 

CREIT’s bank operating facilities, drawn to $99.5 million at

December 31, 2004, consists of a revolving 1-year facility

limited to $160 million, and is secured by a first charge over

57 of CREIT’s properties. Management does not anticipate

any difficulty in renewing the bank loan, and refinancing the

mortgage due on maturity.

EQUITY ISSUE

On April 20, 2004, the Trust completed an equity issue of

3.5 million Units for $17.00 per Unit for aggregate gross

proceeds of $59.5 million. The net proceeds of the new

equity issue were initially used to reduce outstanding

indebtedness under the Bank operating facilities. On June 15,

2004, the Bank operating facilities were drawn upon to

facilitate the acquisition of a 50% interest in Sun Life Plaza,

located in Calgary, Alberta.

FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS

Funds from operations (FFO) is a non-GAAP financial

measure and should not be considered as an alternative to net

income, cash flow from operations or any other operating or

liquidity measure prescribed under GAAP. FFO as presented

may not be comparable to similar measures presented by

other real estate investment trusts, however, CREIT presents

FFO in accordance with the Canadian Institute of Public and

Private Real Estate Companies (“CIPPREC”) White Paper on

Funds from Operations dated November 30, 2004.

The use of FFO, combined with the required primary GAAP

presentations has been fundamentally beneficial, improving

the understanding of operating results of REITs among the

investing public and making comparisons of REIT operating

results more meaningful. Management generally considers

FFO to be a useful measure for reviewing our comparative
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operating and financial performance because, by excluding

real estate asset depreciation and amortization (which can

vary among owners of identical assets in similar condition

based on historical cost accounting and useful life estimates),

FFO can help one compare the operating performance of

a REIT’s real estate between periods or as compared to

different REITs.

Management considers FFO after provision for non-

recoverable items to be an indicative measure of CREIT’s

cash generating activities after providing for operating

requirements.

Commercial real estate is a capital-intensive business.

CREIT is continuously investing in leasing costs for new and

renewing lease transactions and in the ongoing repair and

maintenance of its property portfolio.

The majority of repair and maintenance items are recoverable

from tenants pursuant to the terms of their leases either

in the year such expenditure is incurred, or in the case of

a major item of repair, maintenance or replacement on a

straight-line basis over the expected useful life. Management

views such expenditures as an investing activity.

CREIT also incurs costs relating to securing new and

renewal debt. Costs include items such as appraisal fees,

legal fees, physical and environmental inspections and

various processing and lender fees. Such costs are deferred

and amortized over the term of the respective debt.

Management strives to create a balance whereby the capital

for items of a non-recoverable nature (leasing costs and

financing costs) is roughly equal to the amortization of such

items. Management refers to this as being “self-funded”.
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FFO and FFO after provision for items of a non-recoverable operating nature are calculated as follows:

($000’s except per Unit amounts) 2004 2003 Change 

Net income for the period $ 47,451 $ 58,446 $ (10,995) 
Add:
Depreciation 34,439 9,895 24,544 
Amortization of leasing costs 5,909 4,540 1,369 
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 1,775 44 1,731 
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 2,164 94 2,070 
Gain on dispositions of property – (267) 267 
Future income tax expense 439 1,882 (1,443) 

Funds from operations (FFO) 92,177 74,634 17,543 

Add/(Deduct):
Amortization of financing costs 961 991 (30) 
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (211) (16) (195) 
Deferred leasing costs (8,421) (11,438) 3,017 
Deferred financing costs (1,929) (1,326) (603) 
Straight-line rent in excess of contract rent (4,021) – (4,021) 

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items $ 78,556 $ 62,845 $ 15,711 

Basic FFO per weighted average Unit $ 1.682 $ 1.457 $ 0.225 
Diluted FFO per weighted average Unit $ 1.674 $ 1.451 $ 0.223 
Basic FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per weighted average Unit $ 1.433 $ 1.226 $ 0.207 
Diluted FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per weighted average Unit $ 1.426 $ 1.222 0.204 
Cash distributions per Unit $ 1.245 $ 1.230 $ 0.015 

Key Per formance Indicators

Diluted FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per weighted average unit increased 17% to $1.43 for 2004 from $1.22 in 2003.

The change in diluted FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit is due primarily to a 26% decline in deferred

leasing cost expenditures, acquisition activity and slightly higher portfolio leverage year-over-year.
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Leasing Costs

The square footage of leasing activity declined in the

industrial and office sectors by 7% and 15%, respectively,

for 2004 over 2003.

Square Footage 

Leased (000’s) 2004 2003 Change 

Retail 203 199 4 
Industrial 1,085 1,162 (77) 
Office 465 550 (85)  

1,753 1,911 (158) 

Leasing costs per square foot leased were as indicated below:

Change

Leasing Cost (Increase)/

per Sq.Ft. Leased 2004 2003 Decrease 

Retail $ 5.82 $ 7.30 $ 1.48 
Industrial 2.08 1.76 (0.32) 
Office 10.70 14.42 3.72  

$ 4.80 $ 5.99 $ 1.19 

96-month1 Change

Leasing Cost average (Increase)/ 

per Sq.Ft. Leased 2004 cost Decrease 

Retail $ 5.82 $ 9.48 $ 3.66 
Industrial 2.08 1.48 (0.60) 
Office 10.70 9.60 (1.10) 

Average $ 4.80 $ 3.89 $ (0.91) 

1 96-month (8 years) average covers the historical time frame over which

management has collected and retained this information.

There is a large degree of variance in deferred leasing cost

expenditures from transaction to transaction, which is

dependent upon the lease expiry schedule, the asset type or

class and prevailing market conditions. The need for

demising walls, heating, ventilating and air conditioning

work, other base building requirements, new leasing activity

versus lease renewals, the type of asset, the tenant quality,

and building class (central business district or suburban) are

all contributing factors to the cost of a lease transaction.

CREIT acquired class A office buildings during 2004, 2002

and 2001 in Calgary, Halifax, Montreal, and Toronto, while

prior to 2001 had little investment in class A office product.

These assets, because of their location, quality, and tenant

composition, require larger dollar expenditures per square

foot than witnessed in CREIT’s historical experience.

INDEBTEDNESS

By its Declaration of Trust CREIT is limited to an overall

indebtedness ratio of 60%. Indebtedness ratio is defined as

debt divided by total adjusted assets (total assets plus

accumulated depreciation).

Notwithstanding this, Management’s target “operating level”

of indebtedness is 55%.

Key Per formance Indicators

($000’s) 2004 2003 

Total assets $ 1,468,705 $ 1,292,566 
Accumulated depreciation 75,704 41,506 

Total adjusted assets $ 1,544,409 $ 1,334,072 

Bank loan $   99,474 $  117,124 
Mortgages payable 716,080 577,754 

Total indebtedness $  815,554 $  694,878 

Indebtedness ratio 52.8% 52.1% 

CREIT’s acquisition capacity, meaning the ability to fund,

from debt, future commitments or acquire new properties

while maintaining and not exceeding Management’s target

level of indebtedness, is $75 million.

CREIT’s current estimated commitments towards the

development of expansion lands (intensification projects),

industrial acquisition, costs to complete development

projects, redevelopment projects initiated and those

scheduled for future periods, and further mortgage advances

under the mortgage lending program is $18.0 million.

Management believes that CREIT has sufficient unused bank

facility availability, together with unlevered or under-levered

assets, to fund these future commitments.
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CREIT’s future commitments, and the estimated timing of these commitments, are outlined in the schedule below:

Commitments
($000’s) 2005 2006 Beyond Total 

Retail intensification $  143 $   – $  – $   143 
Industrial acquisition 7,206 – – 7,206 
Redevelopment 1,725 1,929 446 4,100 
Future advances under mortgages receivable 4,073 2,455 – 6,528 

Total $ 13,147 $ 4,384 $ 446 $ 17,977 
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INDUSTRIAL ACQUISITION

CREIT is committed to acquire a 93,090 square foot

industrial building referred to as City West, Building C,

located in Edmonton, Alberta, which is anticipated to close

March 1, 2005.

REDEVELOPMENT

801 St. Clair Street, located in Chatham, Ontario, a 50% 

co-ownership with a retail developer, is currently under 

redevelopment.

FUTURE ADVANCES UNDER MORTGAGES RECEIVABLE

CREIT is committed to advance a further $2.7 million towards

a retail development of approximately 34,000 square feet at

3075 & 3083 Highway #7 East in Markham, Ontario.

Management anticipates advancing these funds in 2005

and 2006 as the development progresses.

CREIT is committed to advance a further $3.8 million

towards the acquisition of industrial lands located in

Calgary, Alberta. CREIT will subordinate its position to a

construction lender to facilitate the development of new

industrial real estate as construction commences.
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PART IV

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS

($000’s except per Unit, and other data) 2004 2003  

Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Gross revenues $ 60,719 $ 57,991 $ 53,224 $ 52,189 $ 50,098 $ 47,144 $ 46,448 $ 47,260 

Income before gain 
(loss) on disposition 
and income tax 12,884 13,070 11,809 10,539 16,329 15,372 15,011 14,028 

Income before gain 
(loss) on disposition 
and income tax/Unit  0.23 0.23 0.21 0.20 0.31 0.30 0.29 0.29 

Income before gain 
(loss) on disposition 
and income tax/
Unit diluted  0.23 0.23 0.21 0.20 0.31 0.29 0.29 0.29 

Net income 12,624 12,795 11,650 10,382 15,933 13,772 14,826 13,915 

Net income/Unit 0.23 0.23 0.21 0.20 0.31 0.26 0.29 0.28 

Net income/Unit diluted 0.22 0.23 0.21 0.20 0.30 0.26 0.28 0.28 

Earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, 
and amortization  37,264 36,115 33,183 31,387 30,573 29,324 28,392 27,747 

Funds from operations 24,654 24,240 22,416 20,867 19,787 19,010 18,419 17,418 

Funds from operations/Unit 0.44 0.43 0.41 0.40 0.38 0.37 0.35 0.36 

Funds from operations/Unit 
diluted 0.44 0.43 0.41 0.40 0.38 0.36 0.35 0.36 

Funds from operations 
after provision for 
non-recoverable items 20,905 20,999 19,524 17,128 14,482 16,494 15,888 15,981

Funds from operations 
after provision for 
non-recoverable 
items/Unit 0.37 0.38 0.35 0.33 0.28 0.32 0.31 0.33 

Funds from operations 
after provision for 
non-recoverable items/
Unit diluted 0.37 0.37 0.35 0.33 0.28 0.32 0.31 0.33 

Distributable income 21,572 21,497 20,100 19,160 18,519 17,816 17,261 16,360 

Distributable income/Unit 0.39 0.39 0.37 0.37 0.36 0.34 0.33 0.33 

Distributable income/Unit 
diluted 0.38 0.38 0.36 0.37 0.35 0.34 0.33 0.33 

Cash distributions/Unit 0.3150 0.3150 0.3075 0.3075 0.3075 0.3075 0.3075 0.3075 

Total assets 1,468,705 1,464,488 1,426,333 1,294,074 1,292,566 1,255,062 1,252,818 1,206,737 

Total mortgage and 
bank debt $ 815,554 $ 809,926 $ 771,443 $ 700,563 $ 694,878 $ 664,936 $ 658,744 $ 612,048 

OTHER DATA
(END OF PERIOD)

Rentable Sq.Ft.:

Retail $ 4,483,605 $ 4,422,549 $ 4,131,475 $ 4,115,493 $ 4,068,421 $ 3,982,041 $ 3,969,496 $ 3,925,257 

Industrial 5,894,178 5,744,146 5,506,318 4,887,031 4,878,842 4,782,795 4,782,632 4,782,354 

Office 3,334,295 3,333,181 3,331,295 2,813,915 2,813,019 2,630,291 2,626,255 2,544,161 

Total $ 13,712,078 $ 13,499,876 $ 12,969,088 $ 11,816,439 $ 11,760,282 $ 11,395,127 $ 11,378,383 $ 11,251,772

Occupancy %:

Retail 98.4% 98.0% 98.3% 98.2% 98.7% 98.5% 98.2% 98.1% 

Industrial 93.9 92.1 91.8 95.1 94.6 93.1 94.0 93.1 

Office 92.2 92.3 93.5 92.3 94.1 93.0 91.0 91.1 

Total 95.0% 94.1% 94.3% 95.5% 95.9% 95.0% 94.8% 94.4% 
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Commercial real estate operations are generally not subject

to seasonal influences, but are impacted by economic

events and cycles (local, national and international) which

influences the demand for space. Factors such as consumer

spending, or employment growth, are examples of events

which will impact commercial real estate.

The summary of quarterly results therefore is free from

underlying seasonal variations and reflects activities

occurring in the periods presented.

The quarterly information highlights the increasing total

assets over the eight quarters, and is reflective of the timing

of acquisition, development, mortgage investing, and

deferred leasing and maintenance expenditures. Similarly,

mortgage and bank debt reflects financing activities relating

to both asset additions and ongoing financing activities for

the existing portfolio.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and

amortization, funds from operations and distributable

income are all showing generally consistent and growing

performance on a sequential basis.
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FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS

Consolidated Statements of Income

($000’s except per Unit amounts) Three months ended December 31  2004 2003 

REVENUES
Property rental revenue $ 59,112 $ 48,726 
Interest income 760 555
Fee income 397 429 
Lease termination income 450 388  

60,719 50,098 

EXPENSES   
Property operating expenses 9,918 8,132 
Realty taxes 10,788 9,200 
Property administrative expenses 1,924 1,732 
Property management fees 35 54 
Amortization of recoverable deferred maintenance 583 310 
Amortization of leasing costs 1,644 1,130 
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 872 44 
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties         566 94 
Amortization of financing costs 254 241 
Depreciation 8,786 2,518 
Mortgage and bank loan interest 11,886 9,923 
General and administrative 579 391  

47,835 33,769 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSES 12,884 16,329 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Current 98 328 
Future 162 68  

260 396 
NET INCOME $ 12,624 $ 15,933 
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Net income for the fourth quarter of 2004 was $12.6 million

as compared to $15.9 million for the fourth quarter of 2003.

Net income before income tax was $12.9 million for the

fourth quarter of 2004 as compared to $16.3 million for 2003.

Income tax expense recorded during the fourth quarter of

2004 included $98,000 current tax and $162,000 relating to

future income tax expense.

Period-over-period changes reflect declines in occupancy

in all three of CREIT’s asset classes, however, there are

improvements in new acquisition and financing activities

occurring during 2004.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, CREIT acquired the

following real estate asset:
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Acquisition Ownership

Cost Interest 

Property Property Type Date Acquired  Square Feet ($ millions) Acquired

201 Chain Lake Retail Oct 31/04 59,249 $ 6.8 50.0% 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

($000’s) Three months ended December 31 2004 2003 

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES 

OPERATING
Net income $ 12,624 $ 15,933 
Items not affecting cash   

Depreciation 8,786 2,518 
(Gain) loss on dispositions of property – –
Future income tax expense 162 68 
Amortization of leasing costs 1,644 1,130 
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 872 44 
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 566 94 
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (80) (16) 
Amortization of deferred maintenance 583 310 
Amortization of financing costs 254 241 
Deferred leasing costs (2,638) (5,049) 
Deferred maintenance costs (1,913) (1,957) 
Changes in tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (3,654) (1,095) 
Changes in straight-line rent receivables (1,123) – 
Changes in other non-cash operating items 9,738 10,197 

Total operating activities 25,821 22,418 

FINANCING
Proceeds of new mortgage financing 32,819 109,202 
Mortgage principal repayments (4,264) (3,432) 
Discharge of mortgages (3,279) (93,232) 
Net proceeds from issue of new Units 1,975 774 
Distributions to Unitholders (16,423) (15,131) 
Deferred financing costs (162) (481) 
Bank loan (19,181) 19,608 

Total financing activities (8,515) 17,308 

INVESTING
Additions to income properties (10,557) (32,084) 
Additions to properties under development 3,194 (1,460) 
Deferred leasing costs on acquisition of properties (531) (1,294) 
Intangible assets on acquisition of properties (707) (4,007) 
Intangible liabilities on acquisition of properties 60 491 
Capital expenditures – 40 
Mortgages receivable (9,881) (896) 
Other assets 669 29 

Total investing activities (17,753) (39,181) 

Foreign exchange loss on cash held in foreign currency (13) (4) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (460) 541 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 3,917 2,739 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $  3,457 $ 3,280 
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SEGMENTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

($000’s) 

Three months ended December 31, 2004 Retail Office Industrial Trust Inter-Segment Total 

Property rental revenue $ 23,847 $ 24,474 $ 10,791 $ – $ – $ 59,112
Property operating expenses 2,166 6,426 1,298 28 – 9,918
Realty taxes 4,509 4,563 1,716 – – 10,788
Property management fees 651 821 373 – (1,810) 35
Amortization of deferred maintenance 79 440 131 – (67) 583

Property net operating income 16,442 12,224 7,273 (28) 1,877 37,788
Amortization of leasing costs 451 749 431 13 – 1,644
Amortization of leasing costs on 
acquisition of properties 110 707 55 – – 872

Amortization of intangible assets on 
acquisition of properties 138 361 67  – – 566

Property net effective income 15,743 10,407 6,720 (41) 1,877 34,706
Property administrative expenses 212 219 98 1,395 – 1,924
Fee income – 94 – 2,180 (1,877) 397 
Lease termination income 135 132 183 – – 450

Income from property operations $ 15,666 $ 10,414 $  6,805 $  744 $ – $ 33,629

($000’s) 

Three months ended December 31, 2003 Retail Office Industrial Trust Inter-Segment Total 

Property rental revenue $ 21,066 $ 19,637 $ 8,023 $   – $ – $ 48,726 
Property operating expenses 2,249 4,896 951 36 – 8,132 
Realty tax 3,943 3,958 1,299 – – 9,200 
Property management fees 632 670 270 – (1,518) 54 
Amortization of recoverable
deferred maintenance 74 139 104 – (7) 310 

Property net operating income 14,168 9,974 5,399 (36) 1,525 31,030 
Amortization of leasing costs 333 444 337 16 – 1,130 
Amortization of leasing costs on 
acquisition of properties 15 14 15 – – 44 

Amortization of intangible assets on 
acquisition of properties 24 52 18   – – 94 

Property net effective income 13,796 9,464 5,029 (52) 1,525 29,762 
Property administration expenses 174 163 67 1,328 – 1,732 
Fee income – 187 – 1,767 (1,525) 429 
Lease termination income 3 385 – – – 388 

Income from property operations $ 13,625 $ 9,873 $   4,962 $ 387 $    – $ 28,847 
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RETAIL SECTOR

Retail Assets 2004 2003 

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total 

Property rental revenue $ 16,044 $ 7,803 $ 23,847 $ 15,877 $ 5,189 $ 21,066 
Property operating expenses 1,616 550 2,166 1,715 534 2,249 
Realty tax 2,994 1,515 4,509 3,012 931 3,943 
Property management fees 455 196 651 464 168 632 
Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 76 3 79 71 3 74 

Property net operating income $ 10,903 $ 5,539 $ 16,442 $ 10,615 $ 3,553 $ 14,168 

Net operating income in the retail sector increased 16% to $16.4 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2004, from

$14.2 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2003. Approximately 87% of this improvement is attributed to acquisition

activity, and the remainder is due primarily to the impact of recognizing rental revenue on a straight-line basis.

Key Per formance Indicators

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent of $0.3 million, net operating income is consistent with 2003.

Average occupancy in the same-asset retail properties for the quarter ended December 31, remained constant at 98%.

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent, net operating income per occupied foot was $14.14 in the

fourth quarter of 2004 as compared to $14.15 in the fourth quarter of 2003.

INDUSTRIAL SECTOR

Industrial Assets 2004 2003 

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total 

Property rental revenue $ 8,278 $ 2,513 $ 10,791 $ 7,853 $ 170 $ 8,023 
Property operating expenses 1,068 230 1,298 949 2 951 
Realty tax 1,329 387 1,716 1,260 39 1,299 
Property management fees 289 84 373 268 2 270 
Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 131 – 131 104 – 104 

Property net operating income $ 5,461 $ 1,812 $ 7,273 $ 5,272 $ 127 $ 5,399 

Net operating income for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 increased 35% to $7.3 million from $5.4 million for the same

period in 2003. Approximately 90% of this increase is due to acquisition activity and the remainder is due primarily to the

impact of straight-line rent recognition.

Key Per formance Indicators

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent of $0.1 million, net operating income increased $0.1 million

to $5.4 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 from $5.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2003. Average occupancy increased to

95% in the fourth quarter of 2004 from 94% in the same period of 2003.

Net operating income per occupied foot on a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent relating to leasing

activities occurring during 2004, increased 1% to $4.72 in the fourth quarter of 2004 from $4.68 for the same period in 2003.

This increase is due to increases in market rent occurring on leasing activities during 2004.
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OFFICE SECTOR

Office Assets 2004 2003 

($000’s) Same-Asset Acquisition Total Same-Asset Acquisition Total 

Property rental revenue $ 18,956 $ 5,518 $ 24,474 $ 18,476 $ 1,161  $ 19,637 
Property operating expenses 5,070 1,356 6,426 4,656 240 4,896 
Realty tax 3,738 825 4,563 3,764 194 3,958 
Property management fees 660 161 821 632 38 670 
Amortization recoverable 
deferred maintenance 321 119 440 114 25 139 

Property net operating income $ 9,167 $ 3,057 $ 12,224 $ 9,310 $ 664 $ 9,974 

Net operating income for the quarter ended December 31, 2004 increased 23% to $12.2 million from $10.0 million for the

same period in 2003. The annual improvement is primarily due to acquisition activity in 2004.

Key Per formance Indicators

On a same-asset basis, excluding the impact of straight-line rent of $0.4 million, net operating income decreased to

$8.8 million in the fourth quarter of 2004 from $9.3 million in the fourth quarter of 2003. Average occupancy decreased

to 92% in the fourth quarter of 2004 as compared to 94% in the same period of 2003.

Net operating income per occupied foot, excluding the impact of straight-line rent, on a same-asset basis declined 4% to

$15.48 in the fourth quarter of 2004 from $16.05 in the fourth quarter of 2003 due to higher operating costs incurred in the

fourth quarter of 2004 combined with the negative impact of higher vacancy and the inability to recover costs on vacant space.

Same-Asset Performance Summary

NET OPERATING INCOME 

2004 2003 Change  

(excluding straight-line rents) ($000’s) ($000’s) ($000’s) (%) 

Retail $ 10,615 $ 10,617 $ (2) – %
Industrial 5,355 5,275 80 1.5 
Office 8,811 9,308 (497) (5.3) 

Total $ 24,781 $ 25,200 $ (419) (1.7)%

AVERAGE OCCUPANCY

(%) 2004 2003 Change 

Retail 98.0% 98.2% (0.2)%
Industrial 94.9 94.3 0.6 
Office 92.3 94.3 (2.0) 

Total 95.2% 95.5% (0.3)%
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NET OPERATING INCOME PER OCCUPIED FOOT 

2004 2003 Change  

(excluding straight-line rents) ($) ($) ($) (%) 

Retail $ 14.14 $ 14.15 $ (0.01) (0.1)% 
Industrial 4.72 4.68 0.04 0.9 
Office 15.48 16.05 (0.57) (3.6) 

Total $ 10.09 $ 10.26 $ (0.17) (1.7)%

Key Per formance Indicators

Distributable Income (DI) per Unit diluted for the fourth quarter of 2004 was $0.383 ($1.53 annualized) compared to $0.353

($1.41 annualized) for the fourth quarter of 2003, an 8% improvement. This increase is reflective of investment and financing

activities throughout 2004.

($000’s except per Unit amounts) Three months ended December 31 2004 2003 Change 

Net income for the period $ 12,624 $ 15,933 $ (3,309) 
Add:

Depreciation 8,786 2,518 6,268 
Future income tax expense 162 68 94 
Gain of dispositions of property – – – 

Distributable income $ 21,572 $ 18,519 $ 3,053 
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 872 44 828 
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 566 94 472 
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (80) (16) (64) 
Straight-line rent (1,123) – (1,123) 

Distributable income on a comparable basis $ 21,807 $ 18,641 $ 3,166 
Weighted average number of Units 56,019 52,121 – 
Diluted weighted average number of Units 56,319 52,395 – 
Basic DI per Unit $ 0.385 $ 0.355 $ 0.030 
Diluted DI per Unit $ 0.383 $ 0.353 $ 0.030 
Basic DI per Unit on a comparable basis $ 0.389 $ 0.358 $ 0.031 
Diluted DI per Unit on a comparable basis $ 0.387 $ 0.356 $ 0.031 
Distributions paid per Unit $ 0.315 $ 0.308 $ 0.007 
Distributions paid as a percent of diluted DI  82% 87% – 

Funds from operations (FFO) per Unit diluted for the fourth quarter of 2004 was $0.438 as compared to $0.378 for the fourth

quarter of 2003, representing a 16% increase (see the following chart on page 48).
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Key Per formance Indicators

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit for the fourth quarter of 2004 was $0.373 as compared to $0.278 for

the fourth quarter of 2003, representing a 34% increase. The increase in FFO after providing for non-recoverable items is

primarily due to a decline in deferred leasing cost expenditures, acquisition activities and slightly higher portfolio leverage.

($000’s except per Unit amounts) Three Months ended December 31  2004 2003 Change 

Net income for the period $ 12,624 $ 15,933 $ (3,309) 
Depreciation 8,786 2,518 6,268 
Amortization of leasing costs 1,644 1,130 514 
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 872 44 828 
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 566 94 472 
Future income tax expense 162 68 94 

FFO 24,654 19,787 4,867 
Add:
Amortization of financing costs 254 241 13 
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (80) (16) (64)
Deferred leasing costs (2,638) (5,049) 2,411 
Deferred financing costs (162) (481) 319 
Straight-line rent (1,123) – (1,123) 

FFO after provision for non-recoverable items $ 20,905 $ 14,482 $ 6,423 

Weighted average number of Units 56,019 52,121 –
Weighted average number of Units diluted 56,319 52,395 – 
FFO per Unit $ 0.440 $ 0.380 $ 0.060 
FFO per Unit diluted $ 0.438 $ 0.378 $ 0.060 
FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit $ 0.373 $ 0.278 $ 0.095 
FFO after provision for non-recoverable items per Unit diluted $ 0.371 $ 0.276 $ 0.095 
Cash distributions per Unit $ 0.315 $ 0.308 $ 0.007 

Leasing Costs

Leasing cost expenditures, square footage leased and the resultant average leasing costs per square foot for the comparative

periods are as follows:

(000’s except per sq.ft. amounts) Leasing Cost Square Average Cost/ 

Three months ended December 31, 2004 Expenditures Footage Leased Square Foot

Retail $ 575 81 $ 7.10
Industrial $ 1,203 320 $ 3.76
Office $  859 123 $ 6.98 

(000’s except per sq.ft. amounts)  Leasing Cost Square Average Cost/ 

Three months ended December 31, 2003 Expenditures Footage Leased Square Foot 

Retail $ 634 58 $ 10.93 
Industrial $  611 184 $ 3.32 
Office $ 3,804 172 $ 22.12 

Management has attempted to focus office leasing activities on “natural users”, or tenants who have a logical reason for

locating at specific properties. The intent is that a natural user, combined with superior tenant service, should result in higher

tenant retention and higher net effective income over the long term.

The change in deferred financing costs is a function of the amount of financing activity transacted in each period. 
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PART V

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

CREIT’s significant accounting policies are described in

Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Management believes the policies that are most subject to

estimation and Management’s judgement are those as

outlined below.

Impairment of Assets

Under Canadian GAAP, Management is required to write

down to fair value any long-lived asset that is determined

to have been permanently impaired. CREIT’s long-lived

assets consist of investments in income properties and

mortgages receivable.

The fair value of investments in income properties is

dependent upon anticipated future cash flows from

operations over the anticipated holding period. The review

of anticipated cash flows involves assumptions of estimated

occupancy, rental rates and a residual value. In addition to

reviewing anticipated cash flows, Management assesses

changes in business climates and other factors, which may

affect the ultimate value of the property. These assumptions

may not ultimately be achieved. In the event these factors

result in a carrying value that exceeds the sum of the

undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the direct

use and eventual disposition of the property, an impairment

would be recognized.

The fair value of mortgages receivable depends upon the

financial stability of the issuer and the economic value of

the underlying security.

There were no impairments for the years ended

December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Depreciation

Effective January 1, 2004, the Trust adopted the straight-line

method of depreciation. Under this method, depreciation

is charged to income on a straight-line basis over the

remaining estimated useful life of the property. A significant

portion of the acquisition cost of each property is allocated

to building. The allocation of the acquisition cost to building

and the determination of the useful life are based upon 

Management’s estimates. In the event the allocation to

building is inappropriate or the estimated useful life of

building proves incorrect, the computation of depreciation

will not be appropriately reflected over future periods.

Property Acquisitions

For acquisitions subsequent to September 12, 2003, in

accordance with CICA Handbook Sections 1581 and 3062,

Management is required to perform the procedures listed

below. Many of these procedures are subject to estimation

and Management’s judgement.

1. Estimate the value of the building “as if vacant” as of

the acquisition date;

2. Allocate that value among land, site improvements

and building;

3. Allocate the value of the above- and below-market

leases to the intangible assets;

4. Calculate the value and associated life of the tenant

relationships, if any, by taking the direct identifiable

benefits of the tenant relationship and discounting that

to its present value; and

5. Estimate the fair value of the tenant improvements and

leasing commission.

Fair Value of Mortgages Payable

Management determines and discloses the fair value of

CREIT’s mortgages payable on a quarterly basis. In

determining the fair value, Management uses internally

developed models that are based upon current market

conditions. The process involves discounting the future

contractual mortgage payments based upon a current

market rate. In determining market rates, Management

adds a credit spread to the quoted yields on Canadian

government bonds with similar maturity dates to CREIT’s

mortgages. The spread used to determine the fair value at

December 31, 2004 is approximately 35 basis points lower

than that used at December 31, 2003. The credit spread is

estimated based upon experience in obtaining similar

financing, and is also affected by current market conditions.
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CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New Accounting Policies Adopted in 2004

CICA Handbook Section 1100 clarifies the hierarchy of GAAP

in Canada. It codifies the sources of GAAP for Canadian

companies and more clearly establishes the authority of

sources of GAAP outside of the CICA Handbook, such as

U.S. GAAP. One of the major changes is the removal of

industry precedents as an appropriate source of GAAP.

The impact of this section on CREIT includes the following:

DEPRECIATION OF INCOME PROPERTIES

The sinking fund method of depreciating income properties,

formerly used by many Canadian public real estate

entities, including CREIT, has been discontinued. Effective

January 1, 2004, CREIT depreciates income properties on a

straight-line basis over their remaining estimated useful life.

RECOGNITION OF RENTAL REVENUE

Certain leases provide for tenant occupancy where

minimum rent payments increase during the term of the

lease. Effective January 1, 2004, the Trust records rental

income over the full term of each lease on a straight-line

basis. Accordingly, a receivable is recorded from tenants

for the difference between the straight-line rent and the

rent that is contractually due from the tenant.

In accordance with the provisions of CICA Handbook

Section 1100, this change in accounting policy has been

made on a prospective basis, with the term of existing

leases considered to commence January 1, 2004 or the

actual commencement date, if such date is subsequent

to January 1, 2004. 

HEDGING RELATIONSHIPS

Effective January 1, 2004, CICA Accounting Guideline 13

establishes specific conditions for when hedge accounting

may be applied. CREIT has foreign exchange contracts,

which hedge a portion of revenue from the Oakbrook,

Illinois property. CREIT has arranged its contracts to meet

the conditions for the hedge accounting treatment.

Accounting Policies to Be Adopted in 2005

CONSOLIDATION OF VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES (VIES)

Effective January 1, 2005, CICA Accounting Guideline 15

will be implemented. This Guideline requires enterprises

to identify Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”), determine

whether they are the primary beneficiary of such entities

and, if so, to consolidate them. A VIE is an entity in

which the equity is not sufficient to permit that entity to

finance its activities without external support, or in which

equity investors lack either voting control, an obligation to

absorb future losses, or the right to receive future returns.

At this time, CREIT is reviewing its current and future

interests, particularly its joint venture, mezzanine financing

and option arrangements, in determining the applicability

of this guideline and its impact on the Consolidated

Financial Statements.
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PART VI

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

All income property investments are subject to a degree

of risk and uncertainty. Income property is affected by

various factors including general economic conditions and

local market circumstances. Local business conditions

such as oversupply of space or a reduction in demand

particularly affect income property investments.

Management attempts to manage these risks through

geographic and asset class diversification in CREIT’s

property portfolio. At December 31, 2004, CREIT held

132 properties in three asset classes (retail, industrial

and office), and geographically spread out among nine

provinces in Canada and one U.S. state.

CREIT is exposed to other risks as outlined below.

Interest Rate and Financing Risk

Management attempts to stagger the maturities of CREIT’s

mortgage portfolio evenly over a 10-year time horizon, which

implies a target weighted average term to maturity of five

years. Management is of the view that such a strategy will

result in the most effective interest rate risk management.

As outlined under “Liquidity and Capital Resources”, CREIT

has an ongoing requirement to access the debt markets to

refinance maturing debt as it comes due. There is a risk

that lenders will not refinance such maturing debt on terms

and conditions acceptable to CREIT, or any terms at all.

Management’s strategy attempts to mitigate CREIT’s exposure

to excessive amounts of debt maturing in any one year.

CREIT has arranged a floating rate Bank operating facility

limited to $160 million. The Bank operating facility is subject

to annual renewal. At December 31, 2004, $99.5 million was

drawn. There is a risk that bank lenders will not refinance

the facility on terms and conditions acceptable to CREIT, or

on any terms at all. As a mitigating factor in this eventuality,

CREIT has a 1-year term extension option.

The table below outlines the effect of hypothetical changes

in interest rates on the total interest expense relating to

CREIT’s floating rate Bank operating facility. The analysis

does not reflect the impact a changing interest rate

environment could have on CREIT’s overall performance,

and as a result, it does not reflect actions Management may

take in such an environment.
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Approximate Change in Approximate Change on Interest 

As at Interest Rate Movement Annual Interest Expense (000’s) Expense per Unit per Annum 

December 31, 2004 10% (37.3 basis points) $ 371 $ 0.01 
December 31, 2003 10% (38.6 basis points) $ 452 $ 0.01 

Management has identified a target level of indebtedness

for CREIT of 55% of total adjusted assets. Total adjusted

assets are calculated utilizing CREIT’s acquisition cost.

Management is of the view that such level of indebtedness

is conservative given the lending parameters currently

existing in the real estate market place (generally up to

65–75% of current market value) and Management is

confident all debts will be financed or refinanced as they

come due for the foreseeable future.

Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that tenants may be

unable to fulfill their lease commitments. Management

mitigates this risk by ensuring that CREIT’s tenant mix is

diversified and by limiting CREIT’s exposure to any one

tenant. CREIT also maintains a portfolio that is diversified

by property type so that exposure to business sectors is

lessened.
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Currently, no one tenant group represents more than 2.6% of

total revenues. CREIT’s 10 largest tenant groups, based upon

current monthly gross rent, represent about 19% of total

revenues. The names noted below are the names of the

parent and are not necessarily the covenant under the lease.

% of Gross Revenue 

1. Government of Canada 2.6% 
2. Wal-Mart Canada Inc. 2.2% 
3. Towers Perrin Inc. 2.1% 
4. Indigo Books & Music Inc. 1.9% 
5. T.J. Maxx/Winners 1.8% 
6. TD Canada Trust 1.7% 
7. IPCF Properties/Weston Foods 1.7% 
8. Suncor Energy Inc. 1.7% 
9. Leo Burnett Company Ltd. 1.5% 

10. Staples/Business Depot Ltd. 1.5% 

As CREIT invests in mortgages from time to time, further

credit risks arise in the event that borrowers default on the

repayment of their mortgages to CREIT. CREIT endeavours

to ensure that adequate security has been provided in

support of such mortgages.

Lease Roll-Over Risk

Lease roll-over risk arises from the possibility that CREIT

may experience difficulty renewing leases as they expire or

in releasing space vacated by tenants upon lease expiry.

Management attempts to stagger the lease expiry profile

so that CREIT is not faced with disproportionate amounts

of space expiring in any one year. Management further

mitigates this risk by maintaining a diversified portfolio

mix both by asset type and geographic location.

The following tables set out lease expiries, by square

footage, for CREIT’s portfolio at December 31, 2004:
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LEASE ROLL-OVER BY ASSET CLASS

Retail Industrial Office Total 

(sq.ft.) (%) (sq.ft.) (%) (sq.ft.) (%) (sq.ft.) (%) 

2005 232,589 5.2% 967,866 16.4% 412,968 12.4% 1,613,423 11.8% 
2006 615,508 13.7 938,303 15.9 481,924 14.5 2,035,735 14.8 
2007 455,424 10.2 1,230,231 20.9 258,796 7.8 1,944,451 14.2 
2008 408,119 9.1 855,459 14.5 526,764 15.8 1,790,342 13.1 
2009 391,588 8.7 640,228 10.9 358,525 10.8 1,390,341 10.1 
Thereafter 2,307,120 51.5 903,948 15.3 1,036,136 30.9 4,247,204 31.0 
Vacant 73,257 1.6 358,143 6.1 259,182 7.8 690,582 5.0 

Total 4,483,605 100.0% 5,894,178 100.0% 3,334,295 100.0% 13,712,078 100.0% 

2005 LEASE EXPIRIES BY ASSET CLASS & REGION

Maritimes Quebec Ontario Manitoba Sask. Alberta B.C. USA Total 

Retail 48,463 13,016 61,875 – 28,181 37,474 43,580 – 232,589 
Industrial 203,110 41,248 135,524 – – 587,984 – – 967,866 
Office  66,828 147,467 85,130 6,463 – 66,337 40,743 – 412,968 

Total 318,401 201,731 282,529 6,463 28,181 691,795 84,323 – 1,613,423 
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In the current economic environment, office assets are

exposed to the greatest degree of lease roll-over risk, given

the contraction in demand during 2003 and much of 2004,

and the competing “sub-let” space that has been brought

to market.

One of CREIT’s performance drivers is related to occupancy.

The majority of CREIT’s leases in place are referred to as net

leases, meaning tenants reimburse CREIT for their share of

operating costs and realty taxes.

Many of CREIT’s operating costs and realty tax expenses are

generally of a fixed nature, although CREIT does experience

a variable element as it relates to utilities, janitorial costs,

and in certain municipalities, realty tax.

The table below outlines the effect of hypothetical changes

in occupancy on gross revenues (and assuming all operating

costs and realty tax expenses are fixed). The analysis does

not identify a particular cause of such changing occupancy

and as a result, it does not reflect the actions Management

may take in relation to the changes.
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Approximate Annual  Approximate Change in 

Change in Change in Average Gross Revenues per 

As at December 31, 2004 Average Occupancy Gross Revenue Unit per Annum 

Retail portfolio 100 basis points $ 965 $ 0.02
Office portfolio 100 basis points $ 1,030 $ 0.02 
Industrial portfolio 100 basis points $   449 $ 0.01

Total real estate portfolio 100 basis points $ 2,444 $ 0.04

Approximate Annual Approximate Change in 

Change in  Change in Average Gross Revenues per 

As at December 31, 2003 Average Occupancy Gross Revenue Unit per Annum 

Retail portfolio 100 basis points $  847 $ 0.02 
Office portfolio 100 basis points $  864 $ 0.02 
Industrial portfolio 100 basis points $  345 $ 0.01 

Total real estate portfolio 100 basis points $ 2,056 $ 0.04 

Currency Risk

CREIT is also exposed to currency risk as it relates to its

U.S. subsidiary. Changes in the applicable exchange rate

could impact income to Unitholders.

To mitigate this risk, CREIT enters into forward exchange

contracts to hedge a portion of revenue from the U.S. asset.

The U.S. asset currently accounts for 3% of CREIT’s

property net operating income.

Changes in the U.S. dollar exchange rate have resulted in

a decrease in same-asset retail net operating income as

disclosed on page 33 of the MD&A.

Environmental Risk

CREIT is subject to various Canadian and U.S. laws relating

to the environment, which deal primarily with the costs of

removal and remediation of hazardous substances, such as

asbestos. Environmental risk is relevant to CREIT’s ability to

sell or finance affected assets and could potentially result

in liabilities for the costs of removal and remediation of

hazardous substances or claims against CREIT. Management is

not aware of any material non-compliance with environmental

laws or regulations with regard to CREIT’s portfolio, or of any

pending or threatened actions, investigations or claims against

CREIT relating to environmental matters.

CREIT has formal policies and procedures to manage

environmental exposures in a proactive manner during

every aspect of the property life cycle. In addition, as part

of CREIT’s risk management program, assets are insured

for environmental incidents.
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PART VII

UNITS OUTSTANDING

The Trust has issued, and is permitted to issue under its

Declaration of Trust, only a single class of Units.

Each Unit represents an equal interest in the Trust together

with all outstanding Units. All Units outstanding from time

to time participate pro-rata in the distributions of the Trust,

and all Units have equal voting rights at meetings held by

the Trust.

December 31, December 31, 

2004 2003 

Units outstanding 56,154,828 52,175,838 

UNITHOLDER TAXATION

For taxable Canadian resident Unitholders, the distributions

are treated in the following manner for tax purposes:

2004 2003 

Foreign non-business income 2.58% 2.02% 
Other income 45.42% 51.98% 
Return of capital 52.00% 46.00% 

OTHER

Additional information relating to CREIT including the

Annual Information Form, Material Change reports and all

other continuous disclosures documents required by the

securities regulators, are filed on System for Electronic

Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) and can be

accessed electronically at www.sedar.com.
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SUMMARY OF 2004 AND OUTLOOK

Key Performance Indicators 2004 Summary

The key performance indicators, discussed throughout the MD&A, address how Management measures performance and

progress, and how Unitholders realize the benefits.

• Distributable income per Unit > Positive improvement of 10% 

• Occupancy > Average occupancy increased in the Office sector, and remained

essentially the same in the Retail and Industrial sectors 

(%) 2004 2003 Change   

Retail 98.3% 98.2% 0.1%
Industrial 93.8 93.8 –   
Office 92.8 91.9 0.9   

Total Portfolio 95.0% 94.9% 0.1%

• Same-asset net operating income excluding > Positive improvement in industrial and essentially flat in 

straight-line rent Retail and Office sectors  

Retail (0.3)%
Industrial 3.7 %
Office 0.1 %

• Weighted average cost of debt > Reduction in cost of debt of 3 basis points   

• Funds from operations after provision for > Positive improvement of 17% 

non-recoverable items per Unit

The primary benefit to Unitholders is a reliable and, over time, increasing cash distribution. Cash distributions to Unitholders

increased 1% year-over-year.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition

CREIT’s distributable income for the fourth quarter of 2004

was $0.383 or $1.53 annualized. 

Outlook

The market for new property acquisitions remains very

competitive, however, we expect we will maintain an active

acquisition program throughout 2005 as CREIT enjoys a

very competitive cost of capital.

Given the strong market for acquisitions, we have taken

steps to initiate the disposition of partial interests in some

of our office assets and to implement our strategy and risk

management measures in this regard. Our goal would be to

match the proceeds on disposition with redeployment into

new acquisitions, however timing differences will always

occur with these types of transactions.

We are encouraged by leasing activities occurring in early

2005 in our Ontario Industrial and Office portfolios. This is

not to suggest that trends experienced in various office

markets relating to demand and rental rates have reversed,

but we are encouraged by factors which indicate the

declines may have subsided.

This past year was very successful for CREIT on many

fronts, and we anticipate 2005 to be active and rewarding

from an operational prospective.
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Auditors’ Report

To the Unitholders of Canadian Real Estate 

Investment Trust

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of

Canadian Real Estate Investment Trust as at December 31,

2004 and 2003 and the consolidated statements of income,

Unitholders’ Equity and cash flows for the years then ended.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Trust’s management. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian

generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards

require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain

reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are

free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,

on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and

significant estimates made by management, as well as

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position

of the Trust as at December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the

results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then

ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario

February 14, 2005

Management’s Responsibility
for Financial Reporting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements

and information included in this Annual Report have been

prepared by management of the Trust, which is responsible

for their consistency, integrity and objectivity. The Trust

maintains appropriate systems of internal control, policies

and procedures to ensure that its reporting practices and

accounting administration procedures are efficient and of

high quality.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent auditors

appointed by the Unitholders, are responsible for auditing

the consolidated financial statements and giving an

opinion thereon.

The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed

and approved by the Board of Trustees and its Audit

Committee. This Committee meets regularly with

management and the auditors. The auditors have full

and free access to the Committee.

Stephen E. Johnson 

President and Chief Executive Officer

Timothy P. McSorley 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2004 and 2003

(Thousands of dollars) 2004 2003

ASSETS
Real estate assets

Income properties (Note 3) $ 1,338,005 $ 1,172,910
Properties under development — 38,157
Deferred charges (Note 4) 51,241 34,943
Intangible assets (Note 5) 17,895 3,905
Mortgages receivable (Note 6) 33,681 21,514

1,440,822 1,271,429
Cash and cash equivalents 3,457 3,280
Accounts receivable 16,498 10,840
Deferred financing costs (Note 7) 2,790 1,841
Other assets 5,138 5,176

$ 1,468,705 $ 1,292,566

LIABILITIES
Mortgages payable (Note 9) $ 716,080 $ 577,754
Bank loan (Note 10) 99,474 117,124
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 43,175 33,473
Intangible liabilities (Note 5) 3,112 468
Future income tax liability (Note 14) 2,021 1,742

863,862 730,561

UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Unitholders’ Equity (Note 12) 604,206 561,676
Cumulative translation gain 637 329

604,843 562,005

$ 1,468,705 $ 1,292,566

Approved by the Trustees:

Lawrence Morassutti, C.A. Robert Hewett

Trustee Trustee
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Consolidated Statements of Income
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(Thousands of dollars except per Unit amounts) 2004 2003

REVENUES
Property rental revenue (Note 13) $ 218,898 $ 187,051
Interest income 2,799 2,180
Fee income 1,298 1,198
Lease termination income 1,128 521

224,123 190,950

EXPENSES
Property operating expenses 34,325 30,084
Realty taxes 41,349 36,412
Property administrative expenses 7,985 6,477
Property management fees 285 223
Amortization of deferred maintenance 1,855 1,288
Amortization of leasing costs 5,909 4,540
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 1,775 44
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 2,164 94
Amortization of financing costs 961 991
Depreciation 34,439 9,895
Mortgage and bank loan interest (Note 11) 42,755 38,460
General and administrative 2,019 1,702

175,821 130,210

Income before the undernoted 48,302 60,740
Gain on disposition of property – 267

Income before income tax expense 48,302 61,007

Income tax expense (Note 14)
Current 412 679
Future 439 1,882

851 2,561

Net income $ 47,451 $ 58,446
Basic net income per unit (Note 15) $ 0.87 $ 1.14
Diluted net Income per unit (Note 15) $ 0.86 $ 1.14

5 8 C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4



Consolidated Statements of Unitholders’ Equity
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(Thousands of dollars) Trust Units Net Income Distributions Total

Unitholders’ Equity December 31, 2003 $ 591,505 $ 277,628 $ (307,457) $ 561,676
Subscriptions 66,157 – – 66,157
Issue costs (2,817) – – (2,817)
Net income – 47,451 – 47,451
Distributions – – (68,261) (68,261)

Unitholders’ Equity December 31, 2004 $ 654,845 $ 325,079 $ (375,718) $ 604,206
Unitholders’ Equity December 31, 2002 $ 538,725 $ 219,182 $ (244,434) $ 513,473
Subscriptions 55,206 – – 55,206
Issue costs (2,424) – – (2,424)
Unit Option compensation (2) – – (2)
Net income – 58,446 – 58,446
Distributions – – (63,023) (63,023)

Unitholders’ Equity December 31, 2003 $ 591,505 $ 277,628 $ (307,457) $ 561,676

C R E I T  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 0 4 5 9



Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow
Years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

(Thousands of dollars) 2004 2003

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES

OPERATING
Net income $ 47,451 $ 58,446
Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 34,439 9,895
Gain on dispositions of property – (267)
Future income tax expense 439 1,882
Amortization of leasing costs 5,909 4,540
Amortization of leasing costs on acquisition of properties 1,775 44
Amortization of intangible assets on acquisition of properties 2,164 94
Amortization of value of above- and below-market leases (211) (16)
Amortization of deferred maintenance 1,855 1,288
Amortization of financing costs 961 991
Deferred leasing costs (8,421) (11,438)
Deferred maintenance costs (5,767) (4,228)
Changes in tenant receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts (1,175) 840
Changes in straight-line rent receivables (4,021) –
Changes in other non-cash operating items 7,540 (1,554)

Total operating activities 82,938 60,517

FINANCING
Proceeds of new mortgage financing 247,368 187,277
Mortgage principal repayments (15,584) (12,931)
Discharge of mortgages (119,330) (151,888)
Net proceeds from issue of new Units 59,263 49,334
Distributions to Unitholders (64,184) (59,577)
Deferred financing costs (1,929) (1,326)
Bank loan (16,326) 3,865

Total financing activities 89,278 14,754

INVESTING
Additions to income properties (130,161) (53,919)
Additions to properties under development – (13,828)
Deferred leasing costs on acquisition of properties (12,222) (1,294)
Intangible assets on acquisition of properties (16,426) (4,007)
Intangible liabilities on acquisition of properties 3,127 491
Capital expenditures – (111)
Net proceeds from dispositions of property – 501
Mortgages receivable (16,025) (1,944)
Other assets (311) (72)

Total investing activities (172,018) (74,183)

Foreign exchange loss on cash held in foreign currency (21) (21)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 177 1,067
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 3,280 2,213

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 3,457 $ 3,280
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SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURE

1. On November 30, 2004, a 50% interest in 201 Chain Lake

Drive, a retail property located in Halifax, Nova Scotia,

was acquired at a price of $7.8 million, paid partially

with an assumption of a mortgage in the amount of

$2.0 million and the conversion of a mortgage receivable

in the amount of $5.8 million.

2 On July 8, 2004, 555 Edinburgh Drive, an industrial

building located in Moncton, New Brunswick, was

acquired at a price of $1.4 million, paid partially with an

assumption of a mortgage in the amount of $1.0 million.

3. On July 7, 2004, three retail properties – Halifax Park

Centre, Lacewood Square and 182–192 Chain Lake Drive –

and Greystone Court, an industrial property, all located

in Halifax, Nova Scotia, were acquired at a price of

$40.3 million, paid partially with an assumption

of mortgages in the amount of $25.5 million.

4. On June 27, 2003, 1508 West Broadway and 1580 West

Broadway, a mixed-use property located in Vancouver,

British Columbia, was acquired at a price of $40.9 million,

paid partially with an assumption of a mortgage in the

amount of $27.7 million.

5. On January 28, 2003, 801 St. Clair Street, a 50% interest

in a retail property located in Chatham, Ontario, was

acquired at a price of $3.7 million, paid partially with an

assumption of a mortgage in the amount of $2.3 million.

6. The cash interest paid during the year ended December 31,

2004 was $41.0 million (2003 – $40.0 million).

7. The cash income taxes paid during the year ended

December 31, 2004 was $0.6 million (2003 – $0.7 million).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2004 and 2003

1. ORGANIZATION OF THE TRUST

Canadian Real Estate Investment Trust (the “Trust”) is a

“closed-end” real estate investment trust created for the

benefit of the Unitholders. The Trust commenced active

operations on behalf of the Unitholders on April 1, 1984.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Trust’s accounting policies and its standards of

financial disclosure are in accordance with the

recommendations of the Canadian Institute of

Chartered Accountants. The more significant of these

policies are described below:

(a) Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include

the accounts of the Trust and its wholly-

owned subsidiaries. The Trust’s investment 

in co-ownerships is accounted for using the

proportionate consolidation method.

(b) Income Properties

Income properties are stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation. If it is determined that

the carrying amount of an income property

exceeds the undiscounted estimated future net

cash flow expected to be received from the

ongoing use and residual worth of the property,

it is reduced to its estimated fair value.

Effective January 1, 2004, the Trust adopted the

straight-line method of depreciation. Under this

method, depreciation is charged to income on

a straight-line basis over the remaining estimated

useful life of the property. The estimated useful

lives by asset class are as follows:

Asset Class Useful Life

Retail 35–55 years
Industrial 35–55 years
Office 50–60 years

In accordance with the provisions of the Canadian

Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”)

Handbook Section 1100, this change in accounting

policy has been made on a prospective basis.

The effect of the change to the straight-line method

from the sinking fund method has been an increase

in depreciation expense of $22.5 million for the

year ended December 31, 2004.

In accordance with CICA Handbook Sections

1581 and 3062, effective for transactions after

September 12, 2003, the purchase price of

income property is allocated to land, building,

deferred leasing costs and intangibles, such as

the value of above- and below-market leases, the

value of in-place leases and the value of tenant

relationships, if any.

The values of the above- and below-market

leases are amortized and recorded as either an

increase (in the case of below-market leases) or

a decrease (in the case of above-market leases) to

property rental revenue over the remaining term

of the associated lease. The value of in-place leases

is also amortized over the remaining term of the

associated leases. The value of tenant relationships

is amortized over the expected term of the

relationship, which includes an estimated

probability of the lease renewal, and its estimated

term. In the event a tenant vacates its leased space

prior to the contractual termination of the lease and

no rental payments are being made on the lease,

any unamortized balance of the related intangible

will be expensed. The tenant improvements and

origination costs are amortized as an expense over

the remaining life of the lease (or expensed in full

in the event the lease is terminated prior to its

contractual expiration date).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(c) Properties under Development

Properties under development are stated at cost.

If it is determined that the carrying amount

exceeds the undiscounted estimated future net

cash flows expected to be received from the

ongoing use and residual worth of the completed

property, after taking into account estimated costs

to complete the development, it is reduced to its

estimated fair value.

Cost includes initial acquisition costs, other direct

costs and realty taxes, interest, and operating

revenues and expenses during the period of

development. Revenues and expenses of properties

under development are recognized in income once

the development is complete. Upon completion,

the properties are classified as income properties.

(d) Leasing Costs

Leasing costs, including tenant inducements and

leasing commissions, are deferred and amortized

on a straight-line basis over the terms of the

respective leases. The unamortized balance of

leasing costs is included in deferred charges.

(e) Financing Costs

Financing costs are deferred and amortized on a

straight-line basis over the term of the respective

indebtedness, or expensed in full in the event the

property securing the indebtedness is sold or

the indebtedness is discharged.

(f) Maintenance Costs

Maintenance and repair costs are expensed against

operations, while deferred maintenance costs,

which are major items of repair or replacement,

are amortized on a straight-line basis over the

expected useful life of such major repair or

replacement. The unamortized balance is included

in deferred charges.

(g) Revenue Recognition

Certain leases provide for tenant occupancy during

periods for which no rent is due (“free rent period”).

The Trust records rental income over the fixed

term of each lease. Accordingly, a receivable is

recorded from tenants for the value of the free

rent period. The amounts included in rental

income for the years ended December 31, 2004

and 2003, were approximately $2.0 million and

$1.6 million, respectively.

Certain leases provide for tenant occupancy where

minimum rent payments increase during the term

of the lease. Effective January 1, 2004, the Trust

records rental income over the fixed term of each

lease on a straight-line basis. Accordingly, a

receivable is recorded from tenants for the current

difference between the straight-line rent and the

rent that is contractually due from the tenant.

In accordance with the provisions of CICA

Handbook Section 1100, this change in accounting

policy has been made on a prospective basis, with

the term of existing leases considered to commence

January 1, 2004 or the actual commencement date

if such date is subsequent to January 1, 2004. The

amounts included in rental income for the year

ended December 31, 2004 which had not yet been

billed, were approximately $4.0 million.

When a property is acquired, the term of existing

leases is considered to commence as of the

acquisition date for purposes of these calculations.

(h) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Allowance for doubtful accounts is maintained for

estimated losses resulting from the inability of

certain tenants to meet the contractual obligation

under their lease agreements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(i) Translation of Foreign Currencies

The Trust has a self-sustaining subsidiary in the

United States, which is financially and operationally

independent. Assets and liabilities of this investment

are translated at the rate of exchange in effect at

the balance sheet date. The resulting net gain or

loss is reflected in the cumulative translation

gain account in Unitholders’ Equity. Revenue

and expense items are translated at the average

exchange rate for the year.

The Trust also uses forward exchange contracts

to manage its foreign exchange risk exposures.

The resulting gains or losses on forward exchange

contracts, which represent designated hedges of a

portion of revenue from the U.S. subsidiary, are

recorded in the cumulative translation account in

Unitholders’ Equity as an offset to the above gains

or losses. Any excess gains or losses arising from

differences between the notional amount of the

forward exchange contracts and the actual income

for the year are recorded in the Consolidated

Statements of Income.

(j) Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability

method. Under this method, future income

taxes are recognized for the expected future tax

consequences of differences between the carrying

amount of balance sheet items and their

corresponding tax values.

Future income taxes are computed using

substantively enacted corporate income tax rates

for the years in which the differences are expected

to reverse.

(k) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in

conformity with Canadian generally accepted

accounting principles requires management to

make estimates and assumptions that affect the

recorded amounts of assets and liabilities and

the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities

at the date of the financial statements, and the

reported amounts of revenue and expenses during

the reporting period. Actual results could differ

from those estimates.

(l) Unit Option Plan

The Trust has a Unit Option Plan, as described in

Note 12. Any consideration paid by the employees

or Trustees on the exercise of Options or the

purchase of Units is credited to Unitholders’

Equity. If Units or Unit Options are repurchased

from employees or Trustees, the excess of the

consideration paid over the carrying amount of

the Unit or Unit Option cancelled is charged to

Unitholders’ Equity.

The Trust accounts for Unit Options using the fair

value method. Under the fair value method,

compensation expense for Unit Options that are

direct awards of Units is measured at fair value at

the grant date using an option pricing model and

is recognized over the vesting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. INCOME PROPERTIES
(Thousands of dollars) 2004

Accumulated Net 

Cost Depreciation Book Value

Freehold properties
Land $ 232,329 $ – $ 232,329
Buildings 1,086,615 73,458 1,013,157

1,318,944 73,458 1,245,486
Leasehold 
properties 94,765 2,246 92,519

$ 1,413,709 $ 75,704 $ 1,338,005

(Thousands of dollars) 2003

Accumulated Net 

Cost Depreciation Book Value

Freehold properties
Land $ 194,303 $ – $ 194,303
Buildings 958,503 40,692 917,811

1,152,806 40,692 1,112,114
Leasehold 
properties 61,610 814 60,796

$ 1,214,416 $ 41,506 $ 1,172,910

4. DEFERRED CHARGES
(Thousands of dollars) 2004

Accumulated Net 

Cost Amortization Book Value

Deferred  
leasing costs $ 40,354 $ 15,018 $ 25,336

Deferred leasing 
costs on 
acquisition of 
properties 13,398 1,701 11,697

Deferred 
maintenance costs 18,199 3,991 14,208

$ 71,951 $ 20,710 $ 51,241

(Thousands of dollars) 2003

Accumulated Net 

Cost Amortization Book Value

Deferred 
leasing costs $ 34,783 $ 11,903 $ 22,880

Deferred leasing 
costs on 
acquisition of 
properties 1,294 44 1,250

Deferred 
maintenance costs 14,166 3,353 10,813

$ 50,243 $ 15,300 $ 34,943

5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Intangible assets represent the value of above-market

leases, the value of in-place leases, and the value of

tenant relationships for income properties acquired

after September 12, 2003.

Intangible liabilities represent the value of below-

market leases for income properties acquired after

September 12, 2003.

(Thousands of dollars) 2004

Accumulated Net 

Cost Amortization Book Value

Intangible assets
Value of above- 
market leases $ 1,422 $ 239 $ 1,183

Value of in-place 
leases 8,839 1,454 7,385

Value of tenant 
relationships 9,989 662 9,327

$ 20,250 $ 2,355 $ 17,895

Intangible liabilities
Value of below- 
market leases $ 3,605 $ 493 $ 3,112

(Thousands of dollars) 2003

Accumulated Net 

Cost Amortization Book Value

Intangible assets
Value of above-
market leases $ 337 $ 7 $ 330

Value of in-place 
leases 2,320 78 2,242

Value of tenant 
relationships 1,350 17 1,333

$ 4,007 $ 102 $ 3,905

Intangible liabilities
Value of below- 
market leases $ 491 $ 23 $ 468
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. MORTGAGES RECEIVABLE

(a) 1280 Fanshawe Park Road and

1287 Hyde Park Road, London, Ontario

The mortgage receivable in the amount of

$15.1 million (2003 – $13.7 million) is secured

against a shopping centre development property,

bears interest at 10%, accruing monthly, and

matures on August 15, 2007. The mortgage

receivable is subordinated to a construction loan.

(b) 801 St. Clair Street, Chatham, Ontario

The mortgage receivable in the amount of

$1.5 million (2003 – $1.5 million) is secured

against the co-owner’s interest in the property.

Interest is set at 10%, payable monthly, and the

mortgage matures on January 27, 2008.

(c) 3075 and 3083 Highway #7 East,

Markham, Ontario

The mortgages receivable in the amount of

$2.5 million (2003 – $2.3 million) and $2.7 million

(2003 – $0.5 million) are secured against the 

co-owner’s interests in the property. Interest for the

$2.5 million mortgage is 10%, accruing monthly

and the mortgage matures on July 3, 2006. Interest

for the $2.7 million mortgage is 7%, accruing monthly,

and the mortgage matures on June 26, 2006.

All of the above mortgages receivable are with

counterparties that are affiliated to one another.

(d) Eastlake Industrial Centre, Calgary, Alberta

The mortgage receivable in the amount of

$5.5 million (2003 – nil) is secured against an

industrial site, bears interest at 9%, accruing

monthly, and matures on November 1, 2009.

The note receivable in the amount of $0.5 million

(2003 – $1.3 million) is secured against a deposit

on an industrial site, bears interest at 9%, accruing

monthly, and is payable on demand.

(e) 201 Chain Lake Drive, Halifax, Nova Scotia

The mortgage receivable in the amount of

$4.5 million (2003 – nil) is secured against the 

co-owner’s interest in the property, bears interest

at 10%, payable monthly in arrears and matures

on December 1, 2009.

(f) 209 Chain Lake Drive, Halifax, Nova Scotia

The mortgage receivable in the amount of

$1.4 million (2003 – nil) is secured against the 

co-owner’s interest in the property, bears interest

at 10%, payable monthly in arrears and matures

on December 1, 2009.

7. DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS

Deferred financing costs are net of accumulated

amortization of $1.5 million (2003 – $1.3 million).

8. CO-OWNERSHIPS

The following amounts represent the Trust’s interest in

co-ownerships:

(Thousands of dollars) 2004 2003

Assets $ 421,316 $ 302,118
Liabilities 270,693 189,192
Revenues 56,458 44,908
Expenses 43,894 30,153
Cash flow from (applied to):

Operating activities 25,268 17,176
Financing activities 73,727 9,223
Investing activities (124,214) (7,639)

The Trust is contingently liable for the obligations of

its associates in certain joint ventures. The assets of the

joint ventures are available and are sufficient for the

purpose of satisfying such obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

9. MORTGAGES PAYABLE

Mortgages payable bear interest at a weighted average

rate of 6.16% (December 31, 2003 – 6.32%) per annum.

Mortgages payable are secured by first charges on the

Trust’s interest in income properties and contain

various clauses including an assignment of leases and

amounts due from property rentals.

Included in mortgages payable is a U.S. $27.2 million;

Cdn. $32.7 million (December 31, 2003 – U.S. $27.7 million;

Cdn. $35.9 million) mortgage obligation secured by a

U.S. property which bears interest at a rate of 5.07%

(December 31, 2003 – 5.07%).

All mortgages payable bear interest at fixed rates except

the first mortgages payable secured by 801 St. Clair Street

and Blue Bonnets Power Centre in the amounts of

$8.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively (December 31,

2003 – $2.3 million and nil), of which 801 St. Clair Street

bears interest at prime plus 0.625% and Blue Bonnets

Power Centre bears interest at prime plus 1.50%.

The mortgages are repayable as follows:

(Thousands of dollars)

2005 $ 66,110
2006 102,967
2007 82,332
2008 29,722
2009 92,526
Thereafter 342,423

$ 716,080

10. BANK LOAN

The Trust has a revolving credit facility limited to

$160 million for acquisition and operating purposes,

which is secured by mortgages on 57 properties. The

credit facility is subject to annual renewal. The majority

of funds drawn under this facility are at LIBOR and

Bankers’ Acceptance rates. As at December 31, 2004,

a total of approximately $99.5 million, including

U.S. $14.1 million, had been drawn (December 31, 2003 –

a total of $117.1 million, including U.S. $13.1 million).

As at December 31, 2004, the weighted average interest

rate on amounts drawn under the credit facility is

3.73% (December 31, 2003 – 3.86%).

11. INTEREST ON DEBT

Interest incurred on all sources of financing is broken

down as follows:

(Thousands of dollars) 2004 2003

Interest expensed on 
mortgages and bank loan $ 42,755 $ 38,460

Interest capitalized to 
properties under development 580 1,448

Total interest incurred during 
the year $ 43,335 $ 39,908

12. UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(a) Units Issued and Outstanding

2004 2003

Balance, beginning 
of year 52,175,838 47,922,611
Issued for cash 3,519,889 3,865,245
Issued for reinvested 
distributions 260,935 253,517

Unit Options exercised 198,166 134,465

Balance, end of year 56,154,828 52,175,838
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(b) Unit Option Plan

On June 5, 1998 the Unitholders passed a resolution

implementing a Unit Option Plan (“the Plan”) in

favour of the officers, employees and Trustees of

the Trust and officers, employees and directors

of the former property manager and certain

subsidiaries of the Trust.

Options granted to participants of the Plan, other

than Trustees of the Trust, will vest over a 3-year

period from the grant date. Options granted to

Trustees vest on the grant date.

Pursuant to the vesting provision, participants of

the Plan, other than Trustees of the Trust, are

committed to invest certain minimum amounts at

the time they join the Plan, in Units of the Trust

over a 5-year period.

On June 25, 2003, 1,048,135 units reserved for

issuance under the Plan were allocated to reserves

for issuance under the Long Term Incentive Plan.

As a result no further options will be issued under

the Plan.
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Pursuant to the Plan, the following activity occurred during the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003:

Unit Options Unit Options Unit Options Weighted Weighted 

Range of Outstanding at Unit Unit Unit Outstanding at Vested at Average Average 

Exercise December 31, Options Options Options December 31, December 31, Exercise Price Remaining 

Price 2003 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2004 2004 per Unit Life (Years)

$ 9.68–10.50 137,038 – 63,668 – 73,370 73,370 $ 9.79 5.08
$ 11.00–11.82 476,363 – 63,000 8,333 405,030 405,030 $ 11.26 4.46
$ 12.05–12.84 393,667 – 70,498 – 323,169 323,169 $ 12.35 6.94
$ 13.24 3,000 – 1,000 – 2,000 2,000 $ 13.24 7.41

1,010,068 – 198,166 8,333 803,569 803,569

Unit Options Unit Options Unit Options Weighted Weighted 

Range of Outstanding at Unit Unit Unit Outstanding at Vested at Average Average 

Exercise December 31, Options Options Options December 31, December 31, Exercise Price Remaining 

Price 2002 Granted Exercised Cancelled 2003 2003 per Unit Life (Years)

$ 9.68–10.50 189,200 – 50,162 2,000 137,038 137,038 $ 10.04 5.63
$ 11.00–11.82 525,333 – 40,970 8,000 476,363 476,363 $ 11.29 5.31
$ 12.05–12.84 438,000 – 40,333 4,000 393,667 261,993 $ 12.35 7.83
$ 13.24 6,000 – 3,000 – 3,000 3,000 $ 13.24 6.07

1,158,533 – 134,465 14,000 1,010,068 878,394

(c) Long Term Incentive Plan

On June 25, 2003, Unitholders of the Trust passed a

resolution implementing a Long Term Incentive

Plan in favour of certain officers and key employees

of the Trust. Participants may subscribe for Units of

the Trust for a purchase price equal to the “market

price” for Units, which purchase price will be

payable in cash installments, over a term not to

exceed 10 years. Participants are required to apply

cash distributions received by them, in respect of

the Long Term Incentive Plan, towards payments

of interest, incremental income tax payable on the

distributions and the remaining installments.

An aggregate of 1,200,000 Units are reserved for

issuance (including 1,048,135 units allocated from

the Unit Option Plan), pursuant to the Long Term

Incentive Plan. No Units have been issued as at

December 31, 2004.
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(d) Employee Unit Purchase Plan

On June 25, 2003, Unitholders of the Trust passed a

resolution implementing an Employee Unit Purchase

Plan. The number of Units each participant would

be entitled to acquire is limited to 5% of their

respective salaries. In addition, if a participant has

participated in the Employee Unit Purchase Plan

for 12 consecutive months, the Trust will match a

certain portion of the employee contributions to

a maximum of not more than $1,000, which

matching amount shall be applied to purchase

additional Units for the participant. An aggregate

of 150,000 Units are reserved for issuance under

the Employee Unit Purchase Plan. 9,870 Units have

been issued as at December 31, 2004.

13. PROPERTY RENTAL REVENUE

Included in property rental revenue are recoveries for

the year ended December 31, 2004 of $74.8 million;

(2003 – $63.1 million), which represent operating costs

and realty taxes recovered from tenants.

14. INCOME TAXES

The Trust is taxed as a “Mutual Fund Trust” for Canadian

income tax purposes. Pursuant to the Declaration of

Trust, the Trustees intend to distribute or designate

all taxable income to the Unitholders of the Trust and

to deduct such distributions and designations for

Canadian income tax purposes. The Trust is subject

to taxation in the United States in connection with

income earned in the United States. Such taxes paid,

to the extent permitted, will be designated as a foreign

tax credit to Unitholders of the Trust. The Trust’s

wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, CREIT

Management Limited, is subject to tax on its taxable

income under the Income Tax Act (Canada).

During the third quarter of 2003, the Trust incorporated

an Illinois company as a wholly-owned subsidiary, and

elected a tax deferred transfer of the Oakbrook, Illinois,

property into the subsidiary.

The Trust’s U.S. subsidiary is subject to tax on its taxable

income at a rate of 38.8%.

The balance of the future income tax liability arises

from the temporary differences between carrying value

and the tax basis of the Oakbrook, Illinois, property.

The carrying value of the Trust’s net assets, excluding

the Oakbrook, Illinois property, exceeds the tax basis by

approximately $142.2 million at December 31, 2004

(2003 – $140.2 million).

15. PER UNIT CALCULATIONS

Basic per Unit information is calculated based on the

weighted average number of Units outstanding for

the period. The calculation of per Unit information on

a diluted basis considers the potential exercise of

outstanding Unit purchase Options to the extent that

each Option is dilutive. The following table provides a

reconciliation between the weighted average number 

of Units used to calculate basic and diluted net income

per Unit.

2004 2003

Weighted average 
number of Units 54,801,026 51,240,020

Effect of dilutive 
Unit options 277,723 199,124

Weighted average number 
of diluted Units outstanding 55,078,749 51,439,144

No options to purchase Units have been excluded from

the diluted calculation in 2004 and 2003.
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16. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES

RISK MANAGEMENT

In the normal course of its business, the Trust is exposed

to a number of risks that can affect its operating

performance. These risks, and the actions taken to

manage them, are as follows:

(a) Interest Rate Risk

Floating rate debt is generally restricted by the

Trust’s operating plan to an amount equal to 10%

of total assets plus accumulated depreciation.

In addition, the Trust attempts to structure its

financings so as to stagger the maturities of its

debt, thereby mitigating its exposure to interest

rate fluctuations.

From time to time, the Trust may enter into interest

rate swap contracts to modify the interest rate

profile of its outstanding debt without an exchange

of the underlying principal amount. As of

December 31, 2004, the Trust has no interest rate

swap contracts in place.

(b) Credit Risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that tenants

may experience financial difficulty and be unable

to fulfill their lease commitments. The Trust

mitigates the risk of credit loss by ensuring that

its tenant mix is diversified and by limiting its

exposure to any one tenant. Thorough credit

assessments are conducted in respect of all new

leasing. Further risks arise in the event that

borrowers default on the repayment of their

mortgages to the Trust. The Trust endeavours to

ensure that adequate security has been provided

in support of mortgages receivable.

(c) Currency Risk

The Trust is exposed to currency risk as it relates to

its self-sustaining U.S. subsidiary. Changes in the

applicable exchange rate may result in a decrease

or increase in income or expense.

The Trust mitigates this risk by matching foreign

currency debt with foreign currency assets.

The Trust entered into forward exchange contracts

to hedge a portion of revenue relating to its

U.S. subsidiary. At December 31, 2004, there are

outstanding forward exchange contracts to sell a

notional amount of U.S. $1.0 million, maturing

over the next 12 months at an exchange rate of

Cdn. $1.2218.

FAIR VALUES

The fair values of the majority of the Trust’s financial

assets and liabilities, representing net working capital,

approximate their recorded values at December 31, 2004

and 2003 due to their short-term nature.

The fair value of the Trust’s mortgages receivable

approximates carrying value.

The fair value of the Trust’s mortgages payable exceeds

the recorded value by approximately $24.8 million

at December 31, 2004 (December 31, 2003 – fair value

exceeded recorded value by approximately $10.5 million)

due to changes in interest rates since the dates on which

the individual mortgages were assumed. The fair value

of mortgages payable has been estimated based on

the current market rates for mortgages with similar

terms and conditions.

The fair value of the outstanding forward exchange

contracts, based on cash settlement requirements

at December 31, 2004, is a positive value of $21,000

(December 31, 2003 – positive value of $55,000) due

to changes in the foreign currency exchange rate

since the date on which the contracts were made.
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17. SEGMENTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Trust’s operations cover various types of real estate properties. The following summaries present segmented

financial information for these property types:

(Thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2004 Retail Office Industrial Trust Inter-Segment Total

Property rental revenue $ 90,274 $ 90,038 $ 38,586 $ – $ – $ 218,898
Property operating expenses 7,988 21,929 4,175 233 – 34,325
Realty taxes 17,463 17,259 6,627 – – 41,349
Property management fees 2,651 3,052 1,313 – (6,731) 285
Amortization of deferred 
maintenance 297 1,171 502 – (115) 1,855

Property net operating 
income (loss) 61,875 46,627 25,969 (233) 6,846 141,084

Amortization of leasing costs 1,483 2,842 1,532 52 – 5,909
Amortization of leasing costs on 
acquisition of properties 264 1,375 136 – – 1,775

Amortization of intangible assets 
on acquisition of properties 358 1,636 170 – – 2,164

Property net effective income (loss) 59,770 40,774 24,131 (285) 6,846 131,236
Property administrative expenses 906 904 387 5,788 – 7,985
Fee income 46 133 – 7,965 (6,846) 1,298
Lease termination income 151 794 183 – – 1,128

Income from property operations $ 59,061 $ 40,797 $ 23,927 $ 1,892 $ – $ 125,677

Income properties $ 638,049 $ 472,990 $ 226,966 $ – $ – $ 1,338,005
Accumulated depreciation 36,185 20,788 18,731 – – 75,704

Income properties before 
accumulated depreciation 674,234 493,778 245,697 – – 1,413,709

Deferred leasing costs 5,884 14,372 4,968 112 – 25,336
Deferred leasing costs on 
acquisition of properties 2,590 8,432 675 – – 11,697

Intangible assets 3,184 13,546 1,165 – – 17,895
Deferred maintenance costs 2,244 8,021 4,473 – (530) 14,208

$ 688,136 $ 538,149 $ 256,978 $ 112 $ (530) $ 1,482,845
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(Thousands of dollars) 

Year ended December 31, 2003 Retail Office Industrial Trust Inter-Segment Total

Property rental revenue $ 80,825 $ 74,598 $ 31,628 $ – $ – $ 187,051
Property operating expenses 8,376 17,731 3,879 98 – 30,084
Realty taxes 15,495 15,404 5,513 – – 36,412
Property management fees 2,375 2,600 1,084 – (5,836) 223
Amortization of deferred 
maintenance 309 554 456 – (31) 1,288

Property net operating income (loss) 54,270 38,309 20,696 (98) 5,867 119,044
Amortization of leasing costs 1,371 1,650 1,458 61 – 4,540
Amortization of leasing costs on 
acquisition of properties 15 14 15 – – 44

Amortization of intangible assets 
on acquisitions of properties 24 52 18 – – 94

Property net effective income (loss) 52,860 36,593 19,205 (159) 5,867 114,366
Property administrative expenses 564 521 221 5,171 – 6,477
Fee income 1 285 – 6,779 (5,867) 1,198
Lease termination income 34 480 7 – – 521

Income from property operations $ 52,331 $ 36,837 $ 18,991 $ 1,449 $ – $ 109,608

Income properties $ 602,832 $ 396,320 $ 173,758 $ – $ – $ 1,172,910
Accumulated depreciation 23,154 10,332 8,020 – – 41,506

Income properties before 
accumulated depreciation 625,986 406,652 181,778 – – 1,214,416

Deferred leasing costs 6,154 12,247 4,339 140 – 22,880
Deferred leasing costs on
acquisition of properties 374 722 154 – – 1,250

Intangible assets 982 2,638 285 – – 3,905
Deferred maintenance costs 1,838 5,992 3,213 – (230) 10,813

$ 635,334 $ 428,251 $ 189,769 $ 140 $ (230) $ 1,253,264

A reconciliation of statement of income line items noted above to net income is not considered necessary as all other line

items on the face of the Consolidated Statements of Income are not allocated by the Trust to defined segments.

18. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

(a) Letters of Credit

As of December 31, 2004, the Trust had issued letters of credit in the amount of $5.0 million (December 31, 2003 –

$3.9 million).

(b) Expansion Lands, Acquisitions, Redevelopments and Mortgage Commitments

The Trust’s estimated commitments in respect of certain development projects and other commitments are as follows:

(Thousands of dollars) 2005 2006 Beyond Total 2003

Industrial developments $ – $ – $ – $ – $ 17,186
Retail intensification 143 – – 143 4,690
Industrial acquisition 7,206 – – 7,206 –
Redevelopment 1,725 1,929 446 4,100 9,598
Future advances under 
mortgages receivable 4,073 2,455 – 6,528 12,556

$ 13,147 $ 4,384 $ 446 $ 17,977 $ 44,030
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(c) Guarantees

The Trust has implemented the requirements

of Accounting Guideline 14 – “Disclosure of

Guarantees”, issued by the Canadian Institute of

Chartered Accountants, which requires a guarantor

to disclose information about guarantees it has

provided. Under this Guideline, a guarantee is

defined as a contract or indemnification agreement

that requires an entity to make payments to a third

party contingent on future events. The disclosures

are required even when the likelihood of the

guarantor having to make any payment under

the guarantee is remote. 

The Trust continues to guarantee certain debt

assumed by purchasers in connection with

historical dispositions of properties. These

guarantees will remain until the debt is modified,

refinanced or extinguished. The Trust has recourse

under these guarantees in the event of default by

the purchaser, in which case the Trust would

have a claim against the underlying property.

The estimated amount of debt subject to such

guarantees at December 31, 2004 is $18.0 million,

with an estimated weighted average remaining

term of 3.6 years.

19. PENSION PLAN

The pension plan is a defined contribution pension

plan. The Trust has incurred current service costs in the

amount of $252,000 during the year ended December 31,

2004, (2003 – $196,000). No provision for future

contributions is required and there is no amortization of

past service costs included in the current service costs.

20. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 26, 2005, the Trust advanced $1.7 million

toward the acquisition of industrial land located in

Calgary, Alberta, which reduces the Trust’s future

commitment toward the advances under mortgages

receivable. The Trust will subordinate its position to a

construction lender to facilitate the development of

the new industrial real estate.

On February 1, 2005, the $2.5 million mortgage

receivable, at an interest rate of 10% accruing 

monthly and secured against the property located at

3075 and 3083 Highway #7 East, Markham, Ontario,

was repaid in full.

On February 4, 2005, the Trust advanced $2.3 million as

a new mortgage receivable, for the purpose of acquiring

industrial lands located in Brampton, Ontario. The

Trust advanced a further $4.0 million on February 9,

2005 towards this acquisition. The mortgage receivable

bears interest at 9.5%, payable monthly, and will be

subordinate to a construction lender.

21. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to

conform with the current year’s presentation.
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CREIT’s Board of Trustees

JAMES M. TORY, Q.C. (Chairman) 1

Retired Partner and Honorary Chair of Torys LLP,

Barristers & Solicitors, since 1999. Chair of the Board and

a director of Cognos Incorporated and director of Inmet

Mining Corporation and Canadian General-Tower Limited.

Mr. Tory has been a Trustee of CREIT since June 2003.

STEPHEN JOHNSON, President & CEO 2

President and Chief Executive Officer of Canadian Real

Estate Investment Trust since September 1996. Principal,

the Dorchester group of companies (real estate and

energy companies), since 1993. Previously President of

DS Marcil Inc. (real estate corporate finance). Mr. Johnson

has more than 25 years continuous experience in the

real estate industry and he has been a Trustee of CREIT

since September 1996.

ROBERT J. S. GIBSON 3, 4

President and Chief Executive Officer of Stuart & Company

Limited (investment company) since January 1993.

Mr. Gibson has been a Director of Alsten Holdings Ltd.

(real estate development and management company) since

1978 and is currently a Managing Director. Mr. Gibson has

been a Trustee of CREIT since November 1997.

F. ROBERT HEWETT 3, 4

President and Chief Executive Officer of CMA Holdings

Incorporated and a number of its subsidiary companies

including MD Management Limited. Mr. Hewett assumed

his position with MD Management Limited at the end of

January 1997. Previously he was President, English Language

Broadcasting Division, Telemedia Inc. Mr. Hewett has been

a Trustee of CREIT since September 1996.

LAWRENCE P. MORASSUTTI, C.A. 3, 5

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, The Morassutti

Group (real estate investment, management and consulting).

Mr. Morassutti has appeared as an expert witness on real

estate valuation matters before a variety of courts and

government regulatory bodies across Canada. Mr. Morassutti

has been a Trustee of CREIT since June 1990.

MORRIS SHOHET 5

Principal, the Dorchester group of Companies (real estate

and energy companies). Mr. Shohet was a co-founder of

Dorchester and has more than 30 years continuous

experience in all aspects of real estate development and

asset management. Mr. Shohet has been a Trustee of

CREIT since September 1996.

ROBERT WITTERICK, Q.C. 4, 5

Solicitor, Gowling Lafleur Henderson LLP (law firm).

Mr. Witterick has been a partner at Gowling Lafleur

Henderson LLP specializing in taxation and corporate/

commercial law, with particular emphasis on the taxation

and structuring of real estate investments and real estate

syndications. Mr. Witterick is also a director of a number

of public and private corporations, both profit and not-

for-profit. Mr. Witterick has been a Trustee of CREIT

since June 1990.
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1 Mr. Tory serves ex officio as a member of each Committee and replaces a Committee member in their absence
2 Mr. Johnson serves ex officio as a member of each Committee
3 Member of the Audit Committee
4 Member of the Compensation & Governance Committee
5 Member of the Investment Committee



Unitholder Information

The closing price of Units on the Toronto Stock Exchange on February 28, 2005 was $19.00.

HISTORICAL DISTRIBUTIONS/UNIT 

PRICE INFORMATION
The following table shows the high and low sales prices for

the Trust’s Units on the Toronto Stock Exchange and cash

distributions paid for the periods indicated.

Year ended Distributions 

December 31, 2004 High Low per Unit

1st Quarter 17.68 15.80 0.3075
2nd Quarter 17.10 13.25 0.3075
3rd Quarter 16.70 15.18 0.3150
4th Quarter 18.65 16.25 0.3150

Total 1.2450

2005

January 18.75 17.50 0.1050
February 19.48 18.23 0.1050

Distributions to Unitholders are paid monthly.

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Units of CREIT are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange

under the trading symbol “REF.UN”.

INVESTOR INFORMATION
Analysts, Unitholders and others seeking financial data

should contact:

Natalia Talanova, Investor Relations: 416.628.7785

Archna Mathur, Director of Finance: 416.628.7865

Tim McSorley, Chief Financial Officer: 416.628.7790

CANADIAN REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST
130 Bloor Street West, Suite 1001

Toronto, Ontario

Tel: 416.628.7771

Fax: 416.628.7777

Web site: www.creit.ca

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT 

AND UNIT PURCHASE PLANS
CREIT’s Distribution Reinvestment and Unit Purchase Plans

provide Unitholders who are direct registrants with an

opportunity to conveniently and economically increase their

ownership in CREIT. Unitholders may have their distributions

and/or optional cash investments automatically directed to

our transfer agent to purchase additional Units without

paying any brokerage commissions. Please note, Canada

Customs and Revenue Agency (formerly Revenue Canada)

ruled in 2000 that participation in these plans at a discount is

a benefit. Information describing the Plans and enrollment

forms are available from CREIT’s web site www.creit.ca or by

calling Investor Relations at 416.628.7785.

TAXATION OF DISTRIBUTIONS 
The Trust has determined that distributions paid to its

Unitholders in respect of the tax year ending December 31,

2004 are taxed as follows:

Foreign Non-Business Income 2.580%

Other Taxable Income 45.420%

Reduction of Adjusted Cost Base 52.000%

Foreign Non-Business Income Tax Paid 0.059%

PLAN ELIGIBILITY

• RRSP • RRIF • DPSP • RPP

REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER AGENT
Investors are encouraged to contact our Registrar and

Transfer Agent, CIBC Mellon Trust Company, for information

regarding their security holdings. They can be reached at:

CIBC Mellon Trust Company

P.O. Box 1, 320 Bay Street, Toronto, Ontario M5H 4A6

AnswerlineTM: 416.643.5500 or 1.800.387.0825 

(Toll-free throughout North America)

Fax: 416.643.5501

Web site: www.cibcmellon.ca

E-mail: inquiries@cibcmellon.ca

INDUSTRY ASSOCIATIONS
CREIT is a member of the International Council of Shopping

Centres (ICSC) and the Canadian Institute of Public and

Private Real Estate Companies (CIPPREC).

AUDITORS
Deloitte & Touche LLP

LEGAL COUNSEL
Torys LLP

ANNUAL AND GENERAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS
The annual and general meeting of Unitholders will be held

at 10:00 a.m. on Friday May 20, 2005 at the Board of Trade,

4th Floor, Boardrooms A-D, One First Canadian Place

(Adelaide Street entrance), Toronto, Ontario.
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Distribution Reinvestment Plan and Unit Purchase Plan

CREIT Unitholders who are direct registrants are able to

conveniently and economically increase their holdings in

CREIT by taking advantage of the Trust’s Distribution

Reinvestment Plan and Unit Purchase Plan.

DISTRIBUTION REINVESTMENT PLAN

Monthly distributions are automatically reinvested in

additional CREIT Units without payment of any brokerage

commissions. The price of Units purchased with such

distributions will be 97% of the weighted average price at

which Units of CREIT have traded on the TSX for the five

trading days immediately preceding the distribution date.

UNIT PURCHASE PLAN

Optional periodic cash investments in additional CREIT

Units may be made without paying any brokerage

commissions. Minimum purchases of $250 per purchase

and maximum purchases of $25,000 per year are permitted

under the Plan. Optional cash payments are invested at the

weighted average price at which Units of CREIT have traded

on the TSX for the five trading days preceding the date of

purchase of additional Units (first day of each calendar

month). Distributions on Units held under the cash option

plan are automatically reinvested in additional CREIT Units.

Participants in the Unit Purchase Plan can elect to use the

Automatic Investment Service, similar to pre-authorized

chequing, which allows for automatic withdrawal from 

your bank account should you wish to make regular

periodic purchases.

Plans are offered only to Canadian resident registered holders

of Units, meaning those Unitholders who hold their Units

in certificate form. This is necessary in order to allow for the

administration of the Plans by our Registrar and Transfer

Agent – CIBC Mellon Trust Company.

In order to participate you must first become a direct

registrant of CREIT. If you are not already a direct registrant

and you wish to participate in the Plans, you must request a

share certificate from your broker in respect of your CREIT

Units. It is likely that your broker will charge you a service

fee in order to deliver the certificate to you. This fee will be

offset by your future savings in brokerage commissions since

all administrative costs of the Plans are borne by CREIT.

We recommend that you then arrange for safekeeping of

your certificate (e.g., in a safety deposit box) to prevent the

possible loss of your certificate.

Once you have received your certificate, please contact CREIT

in order to request an information package including full

Plan details along with an enrollment form, available on our

Web site as well – www.creit.ca. 

Please refer to “Income Tax Considerations”, page 5 of the

Plan document.

For further information regarding CREIT’s Distribution

Reinvestment Plan and Unit Purchase Plan, please contact

the CREIT Investor Relations Department at:

130 Bloor Street West, Suite 1001

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5S 1N5

Tel: 416.628.7785

Fax: 416.628.7777

E-mail: info@creit.ca
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CREIT IS A REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST

that is dedicated to delivering the benefits of real estate ownership 

to its investors. It owns a portfolio of more than 130 retail, industrial

and office properties. CREIT’s disciplined approach has consistently

provided reliable monthly distributions and steady growth in earnings, 

which has resulted in attractive long-term returns for Unitholders.

Canadian Real Estate Investment Trust

130 BLOOR STREET WEST, SUITE 1001

TORONTO, ONTARIO  M5S 1N5

TEL  416.628.7771

FAX  416.628.7777

WWW.CREIT.CA


